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BRAC MAENDELEQO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The members of the Governing Council of BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania have pleasure in subunitting their report and
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, which disclose the state of affairs of BRAC
Maendelec Tanzania (“the Organisation™), as at that date.

REGISTRATION

BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania was incorporated as an Organisation limited by guarantee on 13 December 2011, The
Organisation remained dormant since incorporation until 1 January 2012 when it took over the social development

operation of BRAC Tanzania, a related entity which was wound up on 3 December 2013 by its members who are also
the members of this Organisation.

BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania obtained the status of Non-Governmental Organisation (NGO) on 13 November 2013. 1t’s
the Tanzania chapter of the international non-government organisation Stitchting BRAC International,

VISION

A world free from all forms of exploitation and discrimination where everyone has the opportunity to realise their
potential.

MISSION

The Organisation’s mission is to empower people and communities in situations of poverty, illiteracy, disease and
social Injustice. Our interventions aim to achieve large scale, positive changes through economic and social
programmes that enable men and women to realise their potential.

OUR VALUES

Innovation- the Organisation has been an innovator in the creation of opportunities for the poor to lift themselves out

of poverty. We value creativity in programme design and strive to display global leadership in ground-breaking
development initiatives.

Integrity- the Organisation values transparency and accountability in all our professional work, with clear policies

and procedures, while displaying the utmost level of honesty in our financial dealin gs. The Organisation holds these
to be the most essential elements of our work ethic.

Inclusiveness- the Organisation is committed to engaging, supporting and recognising the value of all members of

society, regardtess of race, religion, gender, nationality, ethnicity, age, physical or mental ability, socioeconomic status
and geography.

Effectiveness- the Organisation values efficiency and excellence in al} our work, constantly challenging ourselves to
perform better, to meet and exceed programme targets, and to improve and deepen the impact of our interventions.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Organisation provides charitable and welfare activities on a non-profit basis, engages in poverty eradication,

promotes women empowerment in rural areas and provides basic education for school dropouts in rural areas in
over 18 districts in Tanzania.

COMPOSITION OF MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL

The members of the Governing Council who served durin g the year and up to the date of this report are set out on
page 1.



BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The members of the Governing Council are committed to the principles of good corporate governance and recognise

the need to conduct operations in accordance with best practices. In so doing the members of the Governing Council
therefore confinn that;

They retain full and effective control over the Organisation;
The members of the Governing Council accept and exercises responsibility for strategic and pelicy decisions,
the approval of budgets and the monitoring of performance; and

*  They bring skills and experience from their own spheres of expertise to complement the professional experience
and skills of the management team.

The members of the Governing Council continued to carry out its role of formulating policies and sirategies of the
Organisation, reviewing the business plan, ensuring that the accounting system is maintained in accordance with
acceptable standards, the books of the Organisation are kept properly, and that accounts are checksd by authorised
auditor, as well as recruitment and development of key personnel.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The members of the Governing Council accept final responsibility for the risk management and internal control system
of the Organisation. Management ensures that adequate internal financial and operational control systems are
developed and maintained on an ongoing basis in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding:

The effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

The safegnarding of the Crganisation’s assets;

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

The reliability of accounting records:

Business sustainability under normal as well as adverse conditions; and
Responsible behaviours towards all stakeholders.

The efficiency of any internal control system is dependent on the strict abservance of prescribed measures,

There is always a risk of non-compliance of such measures by staff. Whilst no system of internal contro! can provide
absolute assurance against misstatement or losses, the risk management system is designed to provide the Board with
reasonable assurance that the procedures in place are operating effectively.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks that may significantly affect the Organization’s strategies, programs and development are mainty
operational risk, currency risk, credit risk and lguidity risk. Below we provide a brief description of the currency
risk, eredit, liguidity, and operational risks facing the initiative and the related management contrels in place.

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the Organization future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates, The Organization’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the
operating activities when income or expense is denominated in different currency from functional currency. The
Organization manages its foreign currency risk by maintaining the foreign cutrency bank accounts,

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument leadin g to a financial
loss. Credit risk is managed by limiting credits and advances to employees,

Liguidity risk
Liquidity risk is termed as the risk arising when the Organization is unable to meet its obligations from maturing
commitments due to insufficient fund. The Crganization monitors its liqu idity risk through monthly forecast of future

cash flows to meet its obligations and commitrment.
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Operational risk

The organization’s exposure to operational risks relates to primarily to high dependency on donor funds to implement
our activities and run the organization. To manage and mitigate this risk, the organization prepares budgets on an
annual basis to ensure that ali activities are adequately funded before the commencement of the respective year. The

organisation also ensures that the donor requirements are complied with to avoid revacation of funding as a result of
non-compliance.

The detailed description of the risks and the mitigation strategies are included under Note 4 of the financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

The Organisation is under the supervision of the members of the Governing Council and the day-to-day management
is entrusted to the Country Director who is assisted by the heads of divisions, departments and units. The organisation
structure comprises of the following divisions:

¢ Education empowerment and Livelihood for
Adolescents (ELA),

Agriculre, Food Security and Livelihood

Accelerating Impact for Young Women in Africa
» Disability Inclusive for the Ulira poor graduation
® Early Childhood Development (ECD)

Monitoring;

1T and MIS.

Human resources;

Training; and

Procurement, logistics and transpertation.
Internal audit;

Accounts and finance;

.- ® ® @ % & @

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions are disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements,

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

BRAC is a development Organisation dedicated to alleviating poverty by empowering the poor to bring about change
in their own lives.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND OUTLOOK

The Organisation will focus on deployment of Accelerating Impact for Young Women in Africa (AIM) Project and
Disability-Inchusive Ultra-Poor Graduation in Tanzania (DIG), directly targeting 416,700 youth among them being
337,525 Adolescent Girls and Young Women (AGYW), 79,175 Adolescent Boys and Young Men, 4,856 Young
Women (18-35) in Microfinance Groups, 1,200 people with disability, 100,000 Microfinance Clients aged above 35
and indirectly reaching 692,500 households and 3,462,500 people,

The Organisation through AIM Project aims to ensure.

Firstly, Social Empowerment: ensiring Adolescent Girls and Young Women have increased agency and voice, that is
Adolescent girls and Young women access youth friendly SRHR, psychosocia) and protection services and ensuring
there is reduced gender based violence and improved gender relations at family and community fevel.

Secondly, Economic Empowerment: ensuring that Adolescent Girls and Young Women aged 15-35 are economicaily
empowered and have overarching employment pathways,

Lastly, evidence-based advocacy for enabling environment for Adolescent girls and Young Women to advocate for
their rights and influence policy.
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

The achievements ocutlined below are a result of the organisation’s strategic priorities and key performance indicators
set for the year 2024. They reflect the deliberate efforts made in alignment with Brac Maendeleo Tanzania’s overall
strategy, providing insight not only into what was accomplished, but also into how progress was measured and guided.

MASTERCARD FOUNDATION ACCELERATING IMPACT FOR YOUNG WOMEN (AIM)

= Youth Development Committee (YDC) Meetings:
Number of YDC bi-weekly meetings conducted is 1,440 with 7 participants attending each meeting on average.
Target was to have 720 meetings conducted. Topics discussed include assets and inputs transfars to participants,

provision of extension services to participants who are already running their enterprises, community-supported
foliow ups after asset transfers and market linkages.

»  Village Savings and Loan Association (VSLA):
Village Savings and Loan Associations (VSLAs) exhibited substantial growth across 60 branches in 8 regions.
Gut of 934 total active groups (target was 785}, 604 (64.7%) were successfully registered, while the remaining
330 groups (35.3%) are scheduled for registration in the next quarter. The VSLAs now serve 13,940 members,
who collectively mobilized TZS 632,974,276 in total savings. Loan disbursements during this period amounted
to TZS 304,448,150 benefiting 4,761 members. Looking ahead, the primary objectives include finalizing group

registrations, optimizing loan disbursement processes, and reinforcing financial literacy programs to foster
sustainable economic empowerment.

¢ Technical training to community agriculture promoters (CAPs) and Community Livestock Promoters
(CLPs):
CAPs and CLPs provide technical and market linkage support to AIM participants, facilitate regular meetings,
offer guidance, and repart progress, fostering skill development and market linkages for sustainable livelihoods,
200 Community Agriculture Promoters and community Livestock Promoters were recruited across eight regions
to promote sustaimable agriculture and livestock enterprises (target was 120). 41 CAPs werte certified by the
Government to support over 3,467 participants who opted agriculture as their livelihood option. In the next

quarter, the plan is to have all promoters receive inputs and ready to provide materials support to AIM
participants.

s Assets and Inputs fransfer:
The Livelihood Assets and inputs Transfer has achieved an overall asset distribution rate of 94.1%, successfuily
delivering 10 23,683 of the 25,156 targeted participants. The remaining chunk of 1,473 assets/participants (3.9%)
will be completed within the next quarter. The disparities in performance across sectors are largely attributed to
varying levels of asset and input availability from vendors. Agriculture performed exceptionally well, reaching
99.7% of its target (3,458 of 3,467), while Livestock achieved 89.2% (6,528 of 7,320). TVET followed closely
with 96.5% (2,696 of 2,793}, and Small Business reached 94.9% {10,962 of 11,537). Addressing these retaining
gaps is a top priority for the first month of the next quarter in 2025. To ensure the successful achievement of the

program’s ambitious targets, improved coordination with vendors and the strengthening of supply chain
mechanisms will be essential.

s  Post asset-transfer follow up:

Post-asset management ensures participants receive technical support and follow-ups through home/business
and group visits. All 23,683 participants who have successfully received assets and inputs have benefited from
at least one follow-up visit, ensuring continuous support and fostering long-term success. Post-asset transfer
follow-ups were conducted by programme assistants, technical sectors officers, branch managers, community
fivelihood promoters and youth development committee members. To further enhance management and ensure
the program's sustainability, we have established strategic partnerships with government agricultural and
livestock extension services, Through this collaboration, we are implementing a joint supervision model, which
includes the enrollment of Community Agriculture Promoters and Community Livestock Promoters. This
second-hand mechanism is key to strengthening asset management, promoting program ownership, and driving
sustainable livelthood development for communities across AIM implementing regions in our country.
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REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

13. STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIFVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MASTERCARD FOUNDATION ACCELERATING IMPACT FOR YOUNG WOMEN (AIM)
(CONTINUED)

Tanzania National Youth Week:

From October 08-14, 2024 BRAC AIM participants (50) and staff (20) participated in the National Youth Week
in Mwanza, a platform for Tanzanian youth to convene, share ideas, and address issues pertinent to their growth
and development coordinated by the Prime Minister's Office, Labour, Youth, Employment, and Persons with
Disability. The Naticnal Youth Week involves various activities such as a youth parade, youth forum, volunteer
activities, exhibition, entertainment, counseling and voluntary testing, and dialogues between youth and different
leaders. The theme was “Yourh and digital opportunities for sustainable development” During the youth forum
AIM participants and steff leammed and exchanged on different topics such as Tanzania National Youth
Development Policy Edition of 2024 and its implementation strategy; youth participation and involvement in
decision-making; opportunities in entrepreneurship and digital innovation in learning and employment;
technology and Reproductive Health; Anificial Intelligence opportunities and challenges; Technology and
Youth Mental Health. Some of the recommendations made by the AIM participants are for the Government to
increase the budget for the provision of technical expertise for young entrepreneurs, especially in the Agriculiure
sector in rural communities, and Integrating Artificial Intelligence (Al) training into youth empowerment
programs to equip young people with modern technological skills.

Adolescents Health and Wellbeing (AHW) Stakeholders Forum:

On October 31 - November 01, 2024, (5) BRAC AIM participants Adolescent Girls (AGs), and Adolescent Boys
(ABs); 5 staff, 1 Regional Manager, and 4 Branch Managers participated in the Adolescents Health and
Wellbeing (AHW) Stakeholders Forum in Dodoma Region. The objective of the AHW Stakeholders Forum was
to discuss the implementation of the National Accelerated Action and Investment Agenda for Adolescents Health
and Wellbeing (NAIA- AHW 2021/22 — 2024/25), one of the important youth agenda in the country that cut
across vartous sectors and Government Ministries. The high-level remarks were conducted by key Government
Ministries including the Prime Minister's Office, Youth, Labour, Employment and Persons with Disabilities and
Policy, Parliamentary Affairs, and Coordination; President Office, Regional Administration and Local
Government (PO-RALG), Ministry of Community Development, Gender, Women, and Special.

Adolescents Health and Wellbeing (AHW) Stakeholders Forum: (continged)

Groups; Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, and Ministry of Health and Tanzania Commission for
AIDS (TACAIDS). The stakeholders including Implementing Partners and key ministries participated in the
panel discussions, dialogues, and exhibitions on the implementation of NAIA — AHW's six pillars: {1) Preventing
HIV; (2) Preventing Teenage Pregnancies; (3) Preventing Sexual, Physical, and Emotional Violence; (4)
Improving Nutrition; (5) Keeping Boys and Girls in Schools; and {6) Developing Soft Skills for Meaningful
Econemic Opportunities. BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania staff patticipated in the pane] discussions on Preventing
Teenage Pregnancies and Developing Soft Skills for Meaningful Economic Opportunities by highlighting how
the AIM program has been supporting AGYWs in these pillars,

4" International Quality Education Conference:

On November 12-14, 2024, BRAC as an active member of Tanzania Education Network (TEN/ MET)
participated in the 04th International Quality Education Conference (IQEC) organized by TEN/ MET in Dar es
Salaam. The conference theme was “Fostering Resilient Education Systems for Sustainable Development in
Africa.” BRAC participated in the panel discussion on Ensuring Equitable Access to Quality Early Learning
Opportunities: Overcoming Sysiemic Challenges and Sharing Best Practices in Early Childhood Education. The
2024 IQEC deliberations and shared commitments were made and presented to the Minister of the Ministry of
Education, Science, and Technology, Prof. Adolph Mkenda, The deliberations and shared commitments were
that all participants in the conference recognize education as a basic human right and advocate for free, fee-based
education in alignment with Article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Article 28 of the

Convention of Rights of the Child, and Article 11 of the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child
(ACRWC).

Hence, the need for the national governments to provide free and compulsory basic education; the necessity of
political commitment to prioritize education funding ensuring the allocation of sufficient funds exceeds the
minimrum global of 20% of the national budget toward education and 6% of GDP;

7
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REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
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13. STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIEVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MASTERCARD FOUNDATION ACCELERATING IMPACT FOR YOUNG WOMEN (AIM)
(CONTINUED)

»

4 International Quality Education Conference; (continued)

Emphasis on financing and partnership are key in providing resilient education, more funding is needed to
sustain education system hence, there is a need to explore innovative finance mechanisms through Domestic
Resource Mobilization and Public Private Partnership; Digital skills in modern teaching particularly in remote
and underserved communities; The call to action to Government and development partners to support

Comprehensive girls education program and adopt Gender Responsive Budgeting in promoting an equitable
system for Girls education.

AIM-ECD redesign Workshop:

In the first week of November, the AIM-ECD redesign Workshop was held in Dar es Salaam, led by the Head
of ECD and the Senior ECD Manager from BRAC International. The workshop brought together 32 participants,
including AIM ECD teams from Uganda and from Tanzania. The primary goal was to reflect on the progress of
the previous cohort, highlighting successes and challenges encountered in the field from the previous cohorts,
Participants also reviewed the ECD Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) offering feedback based on their
experiences from cohorts ene and two. Key discussions focused on Play Leaders' involvement in Village Savings
and Loan Associations (VLSA), the procurement of ECD materials and strategies for reducing costs while
adhering to procurement guidelines. The workshop also reviewed the AIM organogram fo clarify roles and
responsibilities in ensuring a clear chain of command. Proposed changes to the AIM-ECD SOP were presented
and integrated into the existing documents. This platform also allowed the BI team to infom the country feam
and frontline staff about key changes as part of the AIM 2.0 implementation.

Children enrclment:

Over the last three months of 2024, a total of 2,680 children were enrolled across our 92 AIM-ECD Centers,
consisting of 1,335 girls and 1,345 boys. Enrollment is still ongoing, with a target of 2,760 children, and each
center aiming for 30 children. In the last quarter, 97.1% of the enrollment goal was achieved, and the remaining
2.9% is expected to be reached in the first quarter of 2025. The demand for ECD services is growing rapidly due
to the increasing need within communities, especially in semi-urban and urban areas. For example, awareness

has significantly risen in cities, contrasting with rural seftings. In Dar es Sataam, the average enrollment is 30
children per center, while In Tabors, it's only 15,

Center Management Committee Trainings:

During the last two weeks of December 2024, training was conducted in seven branches for the Center
Management Committee (CMC) members to enhance their capacity in supporting ECD center operations. Each
center is supported by 7 CMC members, aiming for a total of 350 members across all centers. While 329
members (34% of the target) participated, the training highlighted the ongoing challenge of engaging male
members as only 36% of participants were male, this indicates that still the team needs to put more efforts on
male engagement in the program. Topics covered included an introduction to BRACs programs, ECD
interventions, child protection, leadership and the critical roles for CMC members play in ensuring the growth
and sustainability of ECD centers. The low male participation reflects the trend that most parent meetings are
attended by female parents/guardians underscoring the need for effective male involvement in ECD activities.

Parenting and Disability Training for Play Leaders:

In December, parenting and disability training was provided to Cohort One Play Leaders, This training equipped
them with parenting skills and tools like the “Washington Tool" to identify and support children with disabilities
at the centers. A total of 40 Play Leaders attended, covering topics that would allow them to better deliver
patenting  sessions to parents and address disabilities within  the learning  environment.

Joint Supervision:

To ensure effective implementation and long-term sustainability of ECD programining, a joint supervision visit
was conducted with Regional Medical Officers, Regional Development Officers, and Regional Social Welfare
Officers from Mbeya and Dar es Salaam regions. The visit was also an opportunity to present the scale-up plan
for 2025/2026 to the government and seek their feedback and gutdance on the targeted areas. 18 government
officers participated, engaging in roundtable discussions and meeting with Play Leaders to gain insights into
BRAC’s programs before touring the centers.

3
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REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
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13. STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIEVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MASTERCARD FOUNDATION ACCELERATING IMPACT FOR YOUNG WOMEN (ATM)
(CONTINUED)

Mounthly Parents Meeting and Parenting Sessions:

One of the methods employed ensuring the community is effectively engaged in the ECD operations is through
monthly parents meetings where parents gather in the center discussing the children and center development and
challenges encountered throughout a month. The parents also get an opportunity to be trained on parenting,
which is usually conducted monthly and topics covered are health, nutrition, responsive caregiving and social

protection. The purpose of the sessions is to capacitate parents with all necessary information about parenting
and ECD.

Safety and Emergency Preparedness Training to ECD Play leaders:

Training was provided to 61 caregivers from seven operational branches: Tegeta, igunga, Nzega, Kilimahewa,
Uyole, and Mwanjelwa. Fire Safety Training was led by fire safety officers from the Ministry of Home A ffairs
focused on equipping caregivers with the necessary knowledge and skills to manage fire emergencies within
ECD centers. The First Aid Training was conducted by healthcare professionals, including nurses feom local
district hospitals, aimed at enabling caregivers to offer first aid to children in the incase of illness or injury during
sessions. The overall goa] of the fraining was to strengthen caregivers' ability to respond effectively and quickly
to emergencies, ensuring the safety and well-being of the children under play leaders’ care. This initiative
highlights the commitment to fostering a safe and supportive environment in our ECD centers.

16 days of Activism against Gender based violence campaign:

Through the ATM program the GESI unit in collaboration with the Advocacy and communications department
actively participated in the 16 Days of Activism by conducting diverse activities involving staff, program
participants, journalists, community members, and Youth Development Committee (YDC). The series of
activities commenced from 28th November to 10th December 2024. the activities involved training journalists
from different media platforms on SGBV, reporting and media advocacy, community activation through
awareness raising outreach in 5 districts of Dar es salaam region and delivering key messages in ending gender-
based violence targeting places with high population of people eg. market areas, 16 days of Activism orientation
to all staff, focus group discussions to program participants and YDC in all 8 AIM implementing regions 3
branches each region, participated in GBV dialogue and forum organized by the government in Iringa region,
call to action and advocacy videos through social media and survivor stories videos, Qutcomes of the campaign
were the Increased understanding of GBV and its impact on individuals, families, and communities. Advocacy:
Advocated for stronger policies, laws, and services to address and prevent GBV. Engagement: Mobilized
individuals and communities to take action and challenge harmful gender norms. Support: Provided information
about resources and support services for survivors of GBV. In tota! the people reached during the campaign apart

from staff was 5,979 whereas 5,720 were community members, 192 program participants, 48 YDCs, and 19
journalists.

SMALLHOLDER COFFEE DEVELOPMENT FROJECT (CODE - P)

During the year, BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania with financial support from European Union (EU) and partly from Sida,
continued the implementation of a four-year (2020 — 2024) Smallholder Coffee Development Project (CODE ~ P) in
the Southern Highlands of Tanzania as one of the four Consortium members (ANSAF, Café Africa, TaCRI and BRAC
Maendeleo Tanzania) led by Vi Agroforestry. The project covers three regions namely, Mbeya, Songwe and Ruvuma.
The project targets 24,000 Smallholder farmers, comprising 12,000 (50%) youths (Young women and young men),

4,800 aduit women (20%) and 7,200 adult men (30%) living in extreme poverty conditions, in the regions of Mbeya,
Songwe, and Ruvuma.

During the year, the organization implemented key activities which included:

In 2023, the CODE-P team successfully established 291 VSLA comprising young males, young females, adult
males, and adult females within the smallholder coffee sector. These groups were strategically organized to
encourage weekly savings and facilitate the distribution of small loans amongst members. The primary objective
was to foster investment opportunities along the coffee value chain while addressing immediate financial needs.

9
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STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIEVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SMALLHOLDER COFFEE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT (CODE — P) (CONTINUED)

In 2023, the CODE-P team managed to enroll 10729 smaltholder farmers onto a digital messaging platform. This
initiative aimed to provide these farmers with crucial updates on weather conditions, market information including

pricing trends, gender-related issues, as well as puidance on Good Agricultural Practices (GAPs) and efficient
harvesting technigues,

« 1In 2023, BMT effectively onboarded eight interns, strategically placing them to support the execution of CODE-P
across the regions of Mbeya, Songwe, and Ruvuma. Their contributions have been invaluable, significantly
advancing the success of CODE-P initiatives. Presently, six of these interns continue to hold pivotal rofes within
BMT. They have played a cructal part in implementing CODE-P, with one notable achievement being the
establishment of VSLAs (Village Savings and Loan Associations). Prior to their engagement, only 54 VSLAs
had been formed over two years of the project. However, their involvement has led to a remarkable leap, with over
279 V5L As established in just one quarter of their coniract period.

SKILLS FOR THEIR FUTURE ROJECT (S4TF)

Skills for their future project seeks to address challenges hindering adolescent girls and young women (AGY Ws) from
accessing and effectively utilizing ICT services to improve their entrepreneurship and employability capacity. These
barriers are related to access, affordability, education (or lack thereof), and lack of technological literacy, as well as
inherent biases and socio-cultural norms that lead to gender-based digital exclusion. Few women and girls in Tanzania
participate in the ICT field, this is demonstrated by a mere 25% of women holding tech jobs in Tanzania and girls
comprising only 10% of students earning degrees in computer science. The challenge of fewer women and girls
participating in ICT is compounded by poor infrastructure and low funding in government secondary schools to deliver
gquality digital literacy training, In addition, teachers in these schools have limited skills and knowledge to deliver
relevant training to the students. Social and cultural barriers where parents prefer boys over girls, especially in

education, have led to fewer girls attaining tech training and having the required skills to pursue tech jobs thus
marginalizing girls out of important career pathways in the tech industry.

SA4TF project empowers adolescent’s girls by equipping them with skills, knowledge, and confidence they need for
the 4th Industrial revolution, making them more competent in their work environment, and allowing them to explore
ali the potential opportunities available in growing technology.

BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania has been implementing this project since 2020 as pilot in one school and started the
implementation of 3-year phases in 2021 ~ 2024, In 2022, BRAC Maendeleo successfully equipped 652 young girls,
100 young boys, and 60 teachers at 3 schools in Temeke with digital skills. In 2023 the project reached 640 students
where boys were 128 and girls 512.The schools are Karibuni, Wailesi and Miburani secondary schools.

The project succeeded to deliver the following impact ¢o the targeied community.

* 640 students (510 Female and 130 Male) aged 14-24 years were equipped with digital skills for the period of
2024,

s Equip a total of 64 teachers with Digital skills
L

Through the Skills for Their Future Project, BRAC has provided the Government of Tanzania with a model to
enhance ICT education for secondary school students

o Certified 65 students in the Computer Driving License (ICDL), a globally recognized qualification.

YOUTH EMPOWERMENT PROGRAM — GOAL

The project aims at empowering adolescent girls from low-income communities using sports and life skills education
s0 that they can make informed choices regarding their future life. Through a combination of sports and livelihood
training (Employability and Entrepreneurship}, the GOAL programme empowers and equips adolescent girls with the

confidence, competence, and skills related to finding future urban and rural settings to have access to decent work and
break out of situations of poverty.

The project specifically intends to economically empower adolescent girls and young women to have knowledge and
skills to achieve their educational and career goals and thereby creating future generations of female leaders who are
empowered to make decisions both for their wellbeing, their families and communities at large.

10



BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

13. STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES, KEY INDICATORS, AND KEY ACHIEVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

YOUTH EMPOWERMENT PROGRAM - GOAL (CONTINUED)

A designed range of indoor and outdoor play, extracurricular activities will be implied during the coaching sessions.
The Project also intends to make participants resilient to social barriers regarding early maiTiage, early pregnancy,
gender-based violence, gender inequality and discrimination as well as becoming self~confident to advocate for their
rights and have their voices heard. GOAL targets girls aged between 15-24 years that are both in and out of schoot.

Project Objectives:

To increase access to job opportunities available in the community.

Increase awareness of different sports and games and use them to address different issues in the commun ity.
Increase awareness on gender issues and health related topics so as to reduce teenage pregnancy and spread of
diseases ncluding HIV/AIDs and STis

* To offer a safe and supportive environment in which girls can learn, support and exchange ideas with one
ancther.

To create financial freedom for the girls and reduce dependence on their families.
* Toincrease girls’ participation in different family and community level activities.

Key Achievements

* 510 club members have been trained in social, econormic, entrepreneurship and employability skills from the
Be Independent module and ELA for the period of 2024/2025.

* 45 club members have been trained by coaches from Tanzania Football and Netball Federation to run different
sports and games at the club level,

* 15 safe spaces for girls have been established at Kibaha Town Council in Tangini,Maili moja ang Picha ya
ndege wards for the period of 2024/2025 years.

DISABILITY INCLUSIVE ULTRA POOR GRADUATION PROGRAM (DIG)

The DIG Program main objective is to sustainably reduce poverty and inequalities for 1050 women and persons with
disabilities (15%) in three districts in Tanzania namely Chamwino, Manyoni and Singida using an enhanced inclusive

graduation approach. This is 2 30-month program (October 2022-June 2025) funded by Cartier philanthropy, UBS
Optimus and WPF.

Key activities implemented in 2024,

Conducted disability Inclusion training to 24 staff

Provision of productive assets to 1051 participants

Conducted intensive rehabilitation and psychosocial assessments to 158 participants with disabilities.
Conducted baseline survey,

Provision of disability inclusive training to 153 village leaders in three districts.
Forming of Peer Support groups for persons with disabilities

Formation of 53 VSLAs

Provision of assitive devices to 74 participants

Provision of psychosocial training to 158 Caregivers

Provision of consumption stipend to 850 participants

Provision of Heatth Insurance to 1051 participants

Mentoring and Coaching through regular home and group visits

Formation of 22 Village Poverty Reduction Committee

Conducted three district learning and coordination workshops

& & & & % & & 2 ® & 9 & @ @
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SOLVENCY

The members of the Governing Council confirm that applicable accounting standards have been followed and that the
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The member of Governin g Council confirm that
the Organisation has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

EMPLOYEES WELFARE

Management/employee relationship

During the year the relationship between employees and management continued to be good. There were no unresolved
complaints received by management from the employees,

The Organisation is an equal opportunity employer. It gives equal access to employment opportunities and ensures
that the best available person is appointed to any given position free from discrimination of any kind and without

regard to factors Jike gender, marital status, tribes, religion and disability which does not impair ability to discharge
duties,

Training

Training and development of staff capacity is one of the key priorities of the Qrganisation. During the year, all the
Branch Accountants received hands on training for Social Development programs. The Organisation will continue to
train, re-train and develop its staff in order to improve service delivery and innovation.

Medical assistance

The Organisation enrolled all employees in medical scheme-NHIF where the employee contributes 3% and employer
contribute 3% of the basis salary for medical treatment.

Retirement benefits

All eligible employees are members of the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) which is an approved pension fund.
The Organisation contributes 10% of the employees’ monthly gross salary,

The NSSF is a defined conwribution scheme with BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania having no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further top-up contributions.

DISABLED PERSONS

The Organization seeks, where reasonable, to accommodate those with disabilities, including staff who become
disabled while working for Organisation. As at 31 December 2024, Organisation had no disabled staff,

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT AND CONTROL PROGRAM

Organisation is very keen with environmental conservation and ensures that environment is conserved and utilised

efficiently. Organisation minimises its impact through the optimal use of its premises and inbuilt facilities to ensure
that there is proper waste management.

The Organisation monitors the impact of its operations on the environment, taking into consideration power and
water usage and generation of waste. Tts policies provide guidelines and mitigation measures on the managemet of
all waste produced from the daily routine activities at offices premises.

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS,

The Organization did not make any political or charitable donations during the during the year other than
Organisation community work in the work Organisation does.

12
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 {CONTINUED)

RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

The Organisation’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented on page 18. The Organisation achieved

approximately 90% of its annual budget. A summary of the key financial performance for the year ended 31 December
2024 s provided below, with detailed resukis on page 189:

Revenue and expenditores

Revenue rose from TZS 16,064,351,000 in 2023 to TZS 31,672,438,000 in 2024, reflecting a 97.2% increase.
Likewise, expenditures grew from TZS 15,920,461,000 to TZS 31,257,958,000. This increase is due to the
expansion of programs supported by the Mastercard Foundation grant.

Total assets and liabilities

Total assets decreased from TZS 4,759,022,000 in 2023 to TZS 3,513,218,000 in 2024, representing 2 26.2%
decline, This was mainly driven by the phasing down of major donor-funded projects — particularly the
Mastercard program -— which, aithough extended for implementation purposes, did nat attract additional
income during the period. This led to a reduction in cash balances and project-related receivables.

Similarly, total liabilities decreased from TZS 4,759,667,000 in 2023 to TZS 3,301,068,000 in 2024, also a
30.6% drop, reflecting the drawdown of previously deferred income and reduced project-related obligations
as the funding cycle approached its final stages.

Cash flows

The Organisation used TZS 692,578,000 (2023: generated TZS 1,510,146,000 from) in operations, spent TZS
604,881,000 (2023: TZS 1,202,944,000) on investing activities. At the year-end, the Organisation's cash
balance stood at TZS 1,567,018,000 (2023: TZS 2,865.81 1,000),

RESOURCES

The members acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring that adequate resources are available and
effectively managed to support the organisation’s operations and strategic objectives,

Financial resources

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Organisation had access to sufficient financial resources,
primarily from donor funding and some from internally generated revenue, which were utilized in accordance

with approved budgets and applicable regulations. Internal controls were maintained to safeguard the integrity
and proper use of these funds,

Human Capital

The Organisation also maintained an adequate level of human capital, with qualified staff deployed across key
function. The organisation continuous itvest in human resource development focusing on but not limited to
training, staff wellness, staff recognition, remuneration, and caresr growth to maintain the value of this capital.

Capacity building and performance monitoring ensured that the workforce remained competent and aligned
with operational needs.

GENDER PARITY

The Organisation had 537 employees in 2024 (80 male and 457 ferale). In 2023 there were employees 481 (62 male
and 419 female).

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Organisation continued to maintain a good relationship with all stakeholders.

RESPONSIBILITY OF AUDITOR

The auditor is respensible for reporting on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework.
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

REPORT OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL

The Goveming Council of Brac Maendeleo Tanzania is responsible for preparing financial statements for each
financial year that present a true and fair view of the organization’s financial position and perfonmance. These
statements are compiled using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and
estimates, in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The Governing Council
confirms that the financial statements provide a true and fair view of the organization’s financial position and
performance in compliance with IPSAS.

AUDITOR

The Organization’s auditor, KPMG has expressed willingness to continue in office and are eligible for re-appointment.
A resolution to reappoint KPMG as the auditor will be put to the Annual General Meeting,

STATEMENT OF COMFLIANCE

The report of the governing council has been prepared in full compliance with Tanzania Financial Reporting Standard
No. | the Report by Those Charged with Governance and other requirements of the laws and regulations of the country.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We certify that to the best of our knowledge and belief, the books records and other information in these financial
statements constitute a true and correct record of all transactions of the Organisation for the year ended 31 December
2024 and correctly reflects all the assets and liabilities existing as at that date,

Approved by the council and authorized for issue on ‘ O [01{' l?_OJ_S and signed by:

ohrh ¥ Moze

Shahrukh Yasmin Mirza
Country Director Director



BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANTA

STATEMENT OF GOVERNING COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The members of the Goveming Council are responsible for the preparation financial statements that give a true and
fair view of BRAC Macndeleo Tanzania comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 20234, and
the statements of financial performance, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to
the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies, in accordance with Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and in the manner required by the Non-
govemmental Organisations Act, 2002.

The members of the Governing Council are also responsible for such internal control as the members determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management,

The members of the Governing Council have made an assessment of the ability of the organization to continue as

going concemn and have no reason to believe that the business will not be a going concern for a period of at least next
twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements,

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework,

Approval of financial statements

The financial statements of BRAC Maendeleo il'anzania, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the
members of the Governing Council on ... | /O, [2072.5.... .. and signed by:

ﬂo/-ru L A ‘y A Te

Joydeep Sirx[:a Roy Shéliu.t.:iéj;.ﬁ.smin Mirza
Country Director Director



BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

DECLARATION OF HEAD OF FINANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The National Board of Accountants and Auditors (NBAA) according to the power conferred under the Auditors and
Accountants (Registration) Act. No. 33 of 1972, as amended by Act No. 2 of 1995, requires financial statements to be
accompanied with a declaration issued by the Head of Finance/Accounting responsible for the preparation of financial
statements of the entity concerned.

It is the duty of a Profcssional Accountant to assist the Governing Council to discharge the responsibility of preparing
financial statements of an entity presenting in all material respect the entity position and performance in accordance
with applicable financial reporting framework. Full legal responsibility for the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (I[PSASs) rests with the
Goveming Council as under Statement of Governing Council’s responsibility on the previous page.

— —
I “G‘iﬁg“ ; Nﬁ\ L’PI\JS(Q m%ing the Head of Finance of BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania hereby acknowledge

my responsibility of ensuring that financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, have been prepared in
compliance with applicable accounting standards and statutory requirements.

I thus confirm that the financial stalements of BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania comply with applicable accounting

standards and statutory requirements as on that date and that they have been prepared based on properly maintained
financial records.

Signed by: ... S =

Position: Head of Finance

Date:.... \ O[GL{'[E’DLS
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KPMG Telephone +255 22 2600330
Certified Public Accountants Fax +255 22 2600490

2 Floor, The Luminary Email info@kpmg.co.tz

Haile Selassie Road, Masaki Internet www.kpma.com/eastafrica
P.0O. Box 1160

Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF GOVERNING COUNCIL OF BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania (“‘the Organization™), set out on pages 19 to
44, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of financial
performance, the statement of changes in net assets and statement cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Organisation as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) as issued by the
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Organization in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Tanzania, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

We draw attention to the fact that the supplementary information (memorandum figures) presented in United States
Dollars (USD) and segmental information presented as appendices do not form part of the audited financial statements.

We have not audited this supplementary information and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on this
supplementary information.

Other Information

The Governing Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Brac Maendeleo Tanzania Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Governing Council

The Governing Council is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IPSAS, and for such internal control as the Governing Council determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF GOVERNING COUNCIL OF BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of the Governing Council (continued)

In preparing the financial statements, the Governing Council is responsible for assessing the Organisation’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, maiters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Governing Council either intend to liquidate the Organization or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

® Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Organization’s internal control.

® Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Governing Council.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Governing council’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Organization to cease to continue as a going concern.

® Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with the governing council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants (T)

V<AMi

Signed by: CPA Alexander Njombe (ACPA 2714)
Dar es Salaam
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFOMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Memo ~ Memo
2024 2024 2023 2023
Notes TZS000 = USD TZS ‘000 USD
INCOME :
Revenue from non-exchange
transactions
Revenue grants 6(2) 30,604,792 : 1__1,698,33'4_ 15,313,004 6,297,976
Release of capital grants 520,455 198,938 243,656 100,211
Total revenue from non-exchange e o
transactions 31,125,247 11,897,272 15,556,660 6,398,187
Revenue from exchange transactions
Other income 7 547,191 209,158 507,691 208,805
Total revenue from exchange 4
transactions 547,191 | 209,158 507,691 208,805
Total income 31,672,438 12,106,430 16,064,351 6,606,992
EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 8 (9,827,673) | (3,756,516) (5,399,651) (2,220,784)
Travelling and transportation expenses (3,610,644) (1_5380,_128)_ (1,868,234) (768,372)
Training, workshop and seminar . =20 :
expenses (3,018,509) (1,153,791) (2,408,872) (990,728)
Occupancy expenses 9 (632,126) (241-,623) (444,507) (182,818)
Other operating expenses 10 (13,616,200) (5,204,63 8) (5,519,754) _(2,2'?0_,18_0)_
Depreciation charge 14 (552,806) (211,304) (279,443) - (114,930)
Total expenditure (31,257,958) (@1 1'_,_9_'48_;000) (15,920,461) (6,547,812)
Surplus before taxation 414,480 .158,430 143,890 59,180
Tax charge 11(a) @01,685) _ (77,091) (99,736) (41,020)
Surplus for the year 212,795 - 81,339 44,154 18,160
Other comprehensive loss ;
Foreign currency translation reserve - : 5,437 - 632
Total surplus for the year 212,795 86,776 44,154 18,792

Notes and related statements forming part of the financial statements appear on pages 23 to 44.

Report of the auditor is on Page 17— 18.



BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment

Current assets

Cash and bank balances
Other assets

Due from related partics

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL FUND
Liabilitics

Other liabilities

Due to related parties

Deferred grants

Deferred tax liability

Corporale tax payable
Total liabilitics

Capital Fund

Accumulated surplus/{deficit)
Foreign currency translation rescrve
Total capital surplus/(deficit)

Total liabilities and capital fund

Notes

12

17(b)

16
17(a)
6(a)

15
L1(b)

Memo Memo

2024 2024 2023 2023
TZS ‘000 USD TZS ‘000 USD
1,775,134 723,954 1,723,176 685,160
1,775,134 723,954 1,723,176 685,160
1,567,018 639,078 2,865,811 1,139,487
157,823 64,364 170,035 67,609
13,243 5,401 5 _ ¢
1,738,084 708,843 3,035,846 1,207,096
3,513,218 1,432797 4,759,022 1,892,256
316,754 129,182 751,185 298,682
743,999 303,426 811,139 322,520
2,078,255 847,576 3,113,540 1,237,988
15,758 6,426 48,012 19,090
146,302 59,666 35,791 14,231
3,301,068 1,346,276 4,759,667 1,892,511
212,150 79,506 (645) (1,833)
" 7,015 . 1,578
212,150 86,521 (645) (255)-
3,513,218 1,432,797 4,759,022 1,892,256

The financi[al statements on pages 19 to 44 were approved for issue by the members of the Governing Council on

AQLOEZ02S | and signed by:

‘jﬁawa by Moge

Shahrukh Yasmin Mirza
Director

e

JolydeepSinha Roy

Country Director

Notes and related statements [orming part of the financial statements appear on pages 23 to 44,

Report of the auditor is on pages 17-18.
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.BRAC MAENDELEQO TANZANIA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Accurmulated

losses

FZS5’000

Balance at 1 January 2024 {645)

Surplus for the year 212,795

Foreign exchange translation reserve -

_Balance as at 31 December 2024 212,150

Balance at 1 January 2023 {44,799}

Surplus for the year 44,154

Foreign exchange translation reserve -
Balance as at 31 December 2023 645

Notes and related statements forming part of the financial staterents appear on pages 23 to 44.

Report of the auditor is on pages §7-18.
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'BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Surplus before taxation

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Depreciation charge 14
Amortisation of capital grant

‘Unrealised exchange gain

L.0ss on disposal

Changes in:

Other assets

Due from related parties
Other liabilities
Deferred grants

Due to related parties

Cash generated (used in)/ generated
from operating activities

Tax paid during the year.

‘Net cash {used in)/ generated from
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property and equipment 14
Proceeds from disposal of assets

Cash used in investing activities

Net {decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
"beginning of the year

Effect of movements in exchange rates
on cash held

Foreign exchange translation reserve
Cash and cash eguivalents at the end
of the year 12

2024
TZS 000

414,480

552,806
(520,455)
1,334

117

448,282
12,212
(13,243)
(434,431)
(514,830)
(67,140)

(569,150)

(123,428)

692,57

(605,081}
200

(604,881)
(1,297,459)

2,865,811

{1,334)

1,567,018

2023
TLS 400

143 890

279,443
(243,656)

11,804
191,481

120,666

530,327
761,433
(92,448)

1,511,479

(1,333)

1,510,146

{1,223,362)
20,418

(1,202,944)

367,202

2,558,609

2,865,811

‘Notes and related statements forming part of the financial statements appear on pages 23 to 44.

Report of the auditor is on pages 17-18.
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

REPORTING ENTITY

BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania (“the Organisation”) was incorporated as an Organisation limited by guarantee on 13

December 2011, The Organisation obtained the status of Non-Governmental Organisation (NGO) on 13 November
2013,

The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Organization is disciosed under the
Organization Information. The principal activities of the Organisation are described in the Directors Report,

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with Accrual Basis

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) as issued by the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except where fair value measutements have been
applied and specified as such in the accounting policies.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Tanzanian Shillings which is the Organisation’s functional currency and

presentation currency. The financial information has been rounded the nearest thousands (TZ5°000), uniess
otherwise indicated.

Memorandum figores

The Memorandum column representing the results in United States Dollars (LUSD) are for presentation purposes
only, and do not form part of the audited financial statements, The exchange rates used to translate the TZS figures
to USD Memorandum were as follows:;

~— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position were translated at the closing rate at 31 DBecember
2024 of TZS 2,452 (2023: TZS 2,515) to 1 USD.

— Income and expenses were translated using an average exchange rate for the period up to 31 December 2024
of TZ8 2,616.17 (2023: TZS 2,431.42) to | USD.

— All resulting exchange differences are being recognised in statement of financial performance,

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with [PSASs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assurptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised
prospectively.

Information on significant judgements, assumptions and estimation uncertainties affecting the financial statements
as at 31 December 2024 is included in Note 5.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date,
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency transactions (Continged)

Foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional curTeney
at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period,

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated
nto the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

The main source of revenue from non-exchange transactions for the Organisation comes from donor grants,
donations in-kind and other donations, and contributions from various stakeholders, ¢can be in form of cash or non-

cash. Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other
than taxes. :

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognized as an asset shall be recognized as revenue,
except to the extent that a liability is also recognized in respect of the same inflow.

As the Organization satisfies a present obligation recognized as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from
a non-exchange transaction recognized as an asset, it shall reduce the carrying amount of the liability recognized
and recognize an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

When the Organization recognizes an increase in net assets as a result of a non-exchange transaction, it recognizes
revenue. If it has recognized a liability in respect of the inflow of resources arising from the non-¢xchange
transaction, when the liability is subsequently reduced, because a condition is satisfied, it recognizes revenue,

Measurement

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognized by the
Organization. When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the Organization recognizes an asset, it also
recognizes revenue equivalent to the amount of the asset unless it is also required to recognize a liability, Where a
Hability is required to be recognized it will be measured at the best estimate of the amount required to settie the
present obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognized as revenue.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions for the Organization during the year comprised of conditional and
restricted grants, donations and contributions in kind.

Contributions received in kind, through the provision of gifts and/or services, are recorded at fair value {excluding

situations when the Organisation may receive emergency supplies for onward distribution in the event of a disaster
which are not recorded as revenue from non-exchange transactions.

For ongoing projects and programs, any expenditures yet to be funded but for which fundin g has been agreed at the
end of the reporting is recognised as revenue grants receivable. For expenditure incurred on projects yet to be funded
and no funding has been agreed are reported as BRAC contribution from BRAC International.

Revenue from exchange transactions

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has tability extinguished,

or directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to
another entity in the exchange.

The Organisation’s main sources of revenue from exchange transactions are {raining activities and gain from
translation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. These are measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable and is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefit or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3! DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are refained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases, Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to deflcit or surplus on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Organisation as a Lessee
Finance leases

Are leases that transfer substantially the entire risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to
Organisation. Assets held under a finance lease are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the future minimum lease payments. Organisation also
recognizes the associated lease lability at the inception of the lease. The liability recognized is measured as the
present value of the future minimum lease payments at initial recognition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognized as finance costs in surplus or deficit.

An asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable
certainty that Organisation will obtain ownership of the asset by the end of the lease term, the asset is depteciated
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful] life of the asset.

Operating leases

Are Jeases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the feased item 10
the Organisation. Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in surplus or deficit on a straight-
line basis over the lease term,

Organisation as a lessor

During the year the Organisation leased buildings and communication towers. Leases in which the Organisation
does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of cwnership of an asset are classified as operating leases.

Initial divect costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 1o the carrying amount of the feased asset and
recognized over the lease term.

Rent received from an operating lease is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term, Commgent
rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity.

The Organization has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax

treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IPSAS 19 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax

also includes any tax arising from dividends. Current tax assets and liabilitics are offset only if certain criteria are
met,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax {Continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

— temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that
the Organization is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates that are expected io be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

The Organisation recognizes 3 financial asset or a financial Jiability in its statement of financial position when, and
only when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

At initial recognition, the Organisation classifies and measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial Hability not at fair value through surplus or deficit,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial lability.

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Organisation classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through net
assets/equity or fair value through surplus or deficit on the basis of both:

* The entity's management model for financial assets and
*  The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recogpition unless the Organisation changes its
management model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the management model.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

* The financial asset is held within a management model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows and

* The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

A financial asset is measured at fair value through net assets/equity if both of the following conditions are met:

* The financial asset is hetd within 2 management model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets and

* The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments {continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The Organisation may, at initial recognition, imevocably designate a financia] asset as measured at fair valye through
surplus or deficit if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
(sometimes referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch') that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities
or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases.

After initial recognition, the Grganisation measure & financial asset at:
* Amortized cost;

* Fair value through net assets/equity; or

* Fair value through surplus or deficit.

The Organisation classifies all financial labilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for:
* Financial Habilities at fair value through surplus or deficit. Such liabilities, including derivatives that are liabilities,
shall be subsequently measured at fair value.
* Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applies.
* Financial guarantee coniracts.

A gain or Joss on a financial asset or financial Hability that is measured at fair value shall be recognized in surplus
or deficit unless:

* It is part of hedging relationship

* It is an investment in an equity instrument and the organisation has elected to present gains and losses on that
investment in net assets

* Itis financial lability designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit and the entity is required to present the
effects of changes in liability's credit risk in net assets

* It is financial asset measured at fair value through net assets and the entity is requited to recognise some changes
in fair value in net assets,

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Organisation derecognises a financial asset when:

* the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are waived, or

* it transfers the rights to receive the cash flows of the financial assets or retain the contractual ri ghts to Teceive
the cash flows of the financial assets but assumes the contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to ene or more
entities (“the eventual recipient” in an arrangement it shall evaluate the extent to which it retains the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset. In this case:

i) If the entity transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the
entity shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately as assets or liabilities any rights
and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

i) Ifthe entity retains substantiaity all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the entity
shall continue to recognize the financial asset,

i) If the entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, the entity shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset. In this
case:

a. If the entity has not retained control, it shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize
separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

b. If the entity has retained control, it shall continue to recognize the financial asset (o the extent of
its continuing invoivement in the financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial iabilities

The Organisation removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial
position when, and only when, it is extinguished-i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
waived, cancelled or expires.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial Hability or a part of it {whether or not
attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial lability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial Hability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Offsetting

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, an entity: Currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts; and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the Hability simultaneously.

Impairment

Non~derivative financial assets
Financial instruments and contract assets

The Organisation recognises loss allowances for ECLs on;
*  financial assets measured at amortised cost;

*  debt investments measured at Fair Value (FV) through Net Assets; and
*  confract assets,

The Organisation measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Organisation considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,

based on the Organisation’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includin g forward-iooking
information,

The Organisation assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 92
days past due,

The Organisation considers a financial asset to be in default when:

* the borrower/customer is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Organisation in full, without recourse by
the Organisation to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

* the financial asset is more than 92 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

28



(g}

(h)

BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DPECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY QF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment (continued)

Non-derivative financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Organisation in accordance with the contract

and the cash flows that the Organisation expects to receive), ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of
the financial asset.

Credit-impalred financial assels

At each reporting date, the Organisation assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at FV Net Assets are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impalred includes the following observable data:
» significant financial difficulty of the customer or borrower;
» abreach of contract such as a defanlt or being more than 92 days past due;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Organisation on terms that the Organisation would not consider
otherwise;

+ it is probable that the customer/borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
» the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Organisation measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Organisation considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This inciudes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Organisation’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and incnding forward-looking
information.

Write-off

The Organisation directly reduce the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when it has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof,

Property and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost
includes expenditures that are directly atiributable to the acquisition of the asset.

When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful fives, they are accounted for as separate items
{major components) of property and equipment.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item il it
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Organisation and its cost can
be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in statement
of profit or toss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property and equipment (continued)
Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in statement of prefit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful fives of each part of an item of property and equipment.

The estimated useful lives are as stated:

Asset class Rate {%46)
Furniture & fixtures 10%
Computer &periphierals 33.33%
Equipment 20%
Vehicles 20%
Bicvcles 20%
Motoreycles 20%
Building 5%

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.
Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Crganisation’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of jmpairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if (he carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that

largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in statement of profit ot loss
and other comprehensive income.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoversble amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, balance in banks and highly liquid financial assets with
original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and
are used by the Organisation in the management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are
carried at amortised cost in the staternent of financial position.

Trade and other payables

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Trade and other payables comprise other liabilities, due from related parties and deferred grant income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and emplovee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Employee benefits
(i} Defined contribution plans.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when they are due.

The Organisation makes statutory Contributions to the National Social Security Fund (NSSF). The Organisation’s
obligations in respect of contributions to such finds are 10% of the employees’ gross emoluments. Contributions to
these pension funds are recognised as an expense in the period the emplovees render the related services. The
Organisation has neither a legal nor constructive obligations to pay further contributions if NSSF does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
Organisation has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been remitted to the NSSF.

(ii) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Organisation has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense in the year when it becomes payable. Termination benefits are
determined in accordance with the local labour laws.

New standards issued but not effective

Standards and amendments in issue bt not yet effective
Relevant standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective and not early adopted.

IPSAS 43 — Leases

o Effective Date: January 1, 2025 (confirmed,; issued January 2022, with earlier application permitted for
entities applying IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments, at or before January 1, 2025).

o Description: IPSAS 43 establishes principles for recognizing, measuring, and disclosing leases,
requiring lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and fease liabilities for most leases. It replaces IPSAS
13, Leases, and is based on IFRS 16, Leases, introducing a right-of-use model for lessees while retaining
the risks and rewards mode) for lessors.

< kmpact: BMT uses office spaces from BTFL under subleases in different branches and standalone leased
buildings. Adopting IPSAS 43 may require recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these
arrangements, potentially adjusting the financial statements to reflect the economic substance of the
subleases and standalone leases. This could lead to changes in asset and liability recognition, particularly
for long-term leases, with increased disclosures on lease terms and obligations. The financial impact is

expected to be limited, but the NGO anticipates improved transparency through detailed reporting in
financial statements.
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(m) New standards issued but not effective (continued)

iL IPSAS 33 Amendments — Limited-scope Updates to First-time Adoption of Aecrual Basis IPSAS (Exposure
Draft 91)

o]

o]

Effective Date: January 1, 2026 (confirmed; proposed amendments issued August 14, 2024, with the
comment period closing December 13, 2024, and final approval expected in Q2 20235 by the IPSASB).
Description: These amendments restructure IPSAS 33 to improve clarity for entities trangitioning to
accrual-basis IPSAS, adding non-authoritative guidance on practical implementation, such as relief
periods for recognizing assets and liabilities,

Impact: Since BMT already uses acerval-basis IPSAS, these amendments are untikely to affect its
current financial reporting directly. However, they could simplify the adoption process for any new
subsidiaries or programs by reducing admtinistrative effort and providing transitional relief for complex

assets, such as leased facilities, without necessitating additional disclosures unless new entities are
consolidated.

1.~ IPSAS 46 Amendments — Application of Current Operational Value (Exposure Draft 90)

o]

[}

Effective Pate: January 1, 2026 {(confirmed; proposed amendments issued in Q3 2024, with the
comment period ending November 29, 2024, and final approval expected in mid-2025 by the IPSASB).
Description: These amendments extend the current operational value (COV) measurement basis—
introduced in IPSAS 46, Measurement—to IPSAS 12 (Inventories), IPSAS 21 (Impairment of Non-
Cash-Generating Assets), and IPSAS 31 (Intangible Assets), requiring assets to be valued based on their
service potential rather than market value, with updated disclosures on valuation assumptions.

Tmpact: BMT's inventories, such as humanitarian supplies, and non-cash-generating assets, like
donated equipment, may see changes in carrying amounts as they are revalued to reflect their operational
utility. This could lead to adjustments in financial statements, potentially increasing or decreasing asset
values depending on their condition and usefulness. The NGO expects enhanced disclosures on

valuation methods and assuraptions, though the overall financial impact remains under assessment
pending final guidance.

1¥.  IPSAS 47 - Revenue

Q
=]

Effective Date; Januvary I, 2027 (confirmed; issued May 2023, with early adoption permitted).
Deseription: IPSAS 47 replaces IPSAS 9 (Revenue from Exchange Transactions) and [PSAS 11
(Construction Contracts) with a unified mode! for revenue recognition based on binding arangements,
distinguishing between exchange transactions (e.g., service fees) and non-exchange transactions (e.g,,
grants, donations) and requiring assessment of performance obligations.

Impact: BMT’s revenue, which includes donations, grants, and occasional service income, may
experience changes in the timing of recognition, particularly for resiricted grants with performance
condition,

Impact: This could alter the classification and presentation of revenue streams, potentially deferring
recognition until obligations are met. The NGO anticipates improved transparency through updated
disclosures, but no materjal impact on overall financial performance is expected.

v, IPSAS 48 - Transfer Expenses

<
a]

Effective Date: January 1, 2027 (confirmed; issued May 2023, with early adoption permitted).
Description: IPSAS 48 provides gnidance on accounting for transfer expenses, such as aid distributions
and prants to beneficiaries without binding arrangements, complementing IPSAS 47, 1t requires expense
recognition when the NGO loses control of resources, with new disclosures on expense purposes and
recipients.

Impact: BMT’s disbursements for humanitarian aid and community programs may see changes in the
timing of expense recognition, particularly for unconditionat transfers like cash aid. This could refine
the presentation of expenses in financial statements, potentially accelerating recognition for certain
outflows, The NGO expects minimal financial impact but anticipates revised disclosures to clarify the
nature and recipients of aid, enhancing transparency.

32



(m)

VI

VIL

VL

(n)

BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

New standards issued but not effective (continued)

Concessionary Leases and Other Arrangements Conveving Rights over Assets (Amendments to IPSAS 43,
IPSAS 47, and IPSAS 48)

o]
o]

Effective Date: January 1, 2027 (confirmed; approved June 2024, with early adoption permitted).
Description: These amendments standardize accounting for concessionary leases (e.g., below-market
rentals) and similar arrangements, aligning TPSAS 43 (Leases), IPSAS 47 (Revenue), and IPSAS 48
(Transfer Expenses). They provide specific guidance on measuring lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets at fair value or current operational value, with enhanced disclosures on concessionary terms.
Impact: Although BMT does not use concessionary leases from donors or governments, the NGO will
review its subleases from BTFL and standalone leased buildings to ensure compliance if any
arrangements qualify as concessionary under these amendments. If applicable, adjustments may be
required to recognize lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, refining financial statement presentation
with increased disclosures on lease terms, discount rates, and any concessionary benefits. The financial

impact 1s expected to be minimal, but the NGO anticipates preater transparency through updated
reporting.

Natural Resources (Exposure Draft in Development)

Effective Date: Januvary 1, 2028 (confirmed; Exposure Draft expected post-September 2024, with the

Description: This standard will govern the recognition, measurement (likely at cutrent operational value
or fair value), and disclosure of tangible natural resources, such as water reserves and timber, addressing

L&)

comment period ending February 28, 2025, and {inal approval projected for Q3 2026 by the IPSASB).
o

resource control, depletion, and environmental considerations.
o

Impact: If BMT controls natural resources, such as water rights for community projects, this standard
could introduce new asset recognition and measurement requirements based on their service potential
or gconomic benefits. The NGO expects significant enhancements in disclosures, including resource

quantities, valuation methods, and sustainability impacts, but the financial statement effect depends on
the final standard's scope and BMT’s activities.

IPSAS 49 — Social Benefits (Exposure Draft in Development, Linked to 2025)

o]

Lo}

Effective Date: Janvary 1, 2028 (confirmed; Exposure Draft issued December 2024, with the comment
period ending June 30, 2025, and final approval projecied for Q3 2027 by the IPSASB).

Description: IPSAS 4¢ will provide guidance on accounting for social benefits, such as cash transfers
and in-kind support provided by NGOs, focusing on recognition, measurement, and disclosure of
obligations and outflows, building on IPSAS 19 (Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent
Assets).

Impact: BMT’s provision of social benefits, like cash transfers and in-kind aid to beneficiaries, may
require recognizing liabilities for ongoing programs if certain conditions for obligation are met. This
could refine the presentation of expenses and liabilities in financial statements, potentially leading to
new provisions for long-term benefit commitments. The NGO anticipates minimal finarcial impact but

expects detailed disclosures on benefit types, recipients, and funding sources to enhance transparency
once the standard is finalized.

Classes of financial instruments

The Organisation classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflects nature of information and take into

account the characteristics of those financial instruments:

Items on the statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents

Due from related parties and other assets
Cther payables

Due to related parties

Deferred grants

33

Class

Financial assets — Amortised Cost
Financial assets — Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities — Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities — Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities — Amaortised Cost
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Accamnlated surplus/(deficit)

The accumulated surplus/(deficit) records the total of all accumulated surplus or deficits achieved by the
Organisation since its inception.

At the end of each reporting periad, all amounts recognized in the statement of financial performance contributing
to the surplus or defieit for that period are transferred into net assets and become part of the Organisation’s
accumulated deft or surplus.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for foture operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of thne is recognised as interest expense,

Related party transactions

The Organisation discloses the natre, volume and amounts outstanding at the end of each financial period from
transactions with related parties, which include transactions with the Key Management Personnel,

Contingencies and commitments

Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements where there is a possible obligation, but payment is
not probable, or the amount cannot be measured reliably. Contingent asseis are disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When the realization of income is virtually certain, then the related asset is recognized
as appropriate. Cornmitments are disclosed in respect to the obligation of the Organisation fo external entities that
arises in connection with the legal contracts executed by the Organisation.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES

BRAC Maendeleo Tanzania has exposure to the foHowing risks from its use of financial instruments:
(a) Credit risk;

(b) Liquidity risk;

(c) Market risk; and
{d} Operational risk

This note presents information about the Organisation’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing the risks,

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Organisation if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Organisation’s cash and bank balances.

The following table summarises the carrying amounts of financial assets — similar to their fair values at the reporting
date and showing maximum exposure to ¢redit risk, if different from carrying amount,

2024 2023

TZS 000 TZS 000

Exposure to Exposure to

credit risk credit risk

Cash and bank balances (Note 12) 1,567,018 2,865,811
Due from related parties 13,243 -

Cash and bank balances are held with reputable multinational and local banks. In the view of the members, risk of
non-performance by the counterparties is not significant.
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organisation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.

Management of liguidity risk

The Organisation’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will aiways have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Organisation’s reputation, Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities.

Carrying Contractual Within

amount  cash flows 1 year

31 December 2024 TZ5'000 TZS'000 TZ5'000

Other liabilities (*) 150,504 150,504 150,504

Due to related parties 743,999 743,999 743 999

Total Liabilities 894,503 894,503 894,503
31 December 2023

Other tiabilities (*} 617,185 617,185 617,185

Due to related parties 811,139 811,139 811,139

‘Fotal Liabilities 1,428,324 1,428,324 1,428,324

The above tables show the undiscounted cash flows on the Organisation’s financial liabilities and on the basis of
their earliest possible contractual maturity. Carrying values of the financial instruments approximates the fair values
ne adjustments needed.

*Tax liabilities of TZS 142 million (2023: TZS 134 miliion) and provisions amounting to TZS 24,250 (2023: Ni)
have been excluded from {inancial liabilities, as they do not meet the definition of financial instruments under the

applicable accounting standards. These represent statutory obligations rather than contractual obligations and are
therefore not classified as financial instruments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, inferest rates etc. will affect
Organisation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Organisation is exposed to currency risk on transactions and balances that are denominated in a currency other
than the respective functional currency of the Organisation, the Tanzanian Shilling (TZS). The currencies in which
these transactions primarily are denominated are US Dollars (USH).

The Grganisation’s strategy for managing its foreign currency exposure is through transacting mainly using its
functional currency,
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2(24 (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued}

The table below suminarises the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December 2024,

2024 2023
Memo

TZSH00 TZS000
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 1,567,618 2,865,811
Due from related parties 13,243 -
Total exposure from financial assets 1,580,261 2.865.811
Financial liabiiities
Due to related parties 743,999 811,139
Other liabilities (*) 150,504 617,185
Tota! exposure from financial liabilities 894,503 1,428,324
Net exposure to currency risk 685,758 1,437,487

*Tax tabilities of TZS 142 miflion (2023: TZS 134 million) and provisions amounting to TZS 24,250 (2023« Nil)
have been excluded from financial liabilities, as they do not meet the definition of financial instruments under the

applicable accounting standards. These represent statutory obligations rather than contractual obligations and are
therefore not classified as financial instruments,

Analysis of the Organisation’s sensitivity to changes in market interest and exchange rate

Sensitivity analysis

The rate of exchange as at 31 December 2024 is USD 1 = TZS 2,452 strengthening of USD against TZS by 10%
means that the rate of exchange will move to USD 1 = TZS 2,697.2

The rate of exchange as at 31 December 2023 is USD 1 = TZS 2,515 strengthening of USD against TZS by 10%
means that the rate of exchange will move to USD 1 =TZS 2,766.5

A devaluation of TZ8 by 10% would have decreased equity by TZS 39 million (2023: TZS 52.4 million) and
inversely would have been the case for an appreciation of the TZS.

To manage the foreign exchange risk management ensures that most transactions and commitments are in local
currency,

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
Organisation’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external! factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted

standards of corporate behaviour, Operational risks arise from all of the Organisation®s operations and are faced by
all business entities.

The Organisation's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Organisation’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict
initiative and creativity. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls o address
operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the
development of overall Organisation standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:
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BRAC MAENDELEQ TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (CONTINUED)

Operational risk (continued)

* requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions;

* requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

* documentation of controls and procedures;

¢ requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures
to address the risks identified;

* requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;

* training and professional development;

* risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective;

* development of contingency plans and

* compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

Compliance with Organisation standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal
Audit. The results of the Tnternal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which
they relate and Country Representative.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Management discussed the development, selection and disclosure of the Organisation’s critical accounting policies

and estimates, and the application of these policies and estimates. These disclosures supplement the commentary on
financial risk management (see Note 4).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise
available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are estimated from observable
data in respect of similar financial instruments or using models. Where market observable inputs are not available,
they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to
determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of those that
sourced them. To the extent practical, models use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk {both own
credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. The
Organisation measures fair values using the fair value hierarchy which reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements.

Level I: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less

than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data.

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes ail instruments for which the valuation technique
includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a si gnificant effect on the instrument’s
valuation, This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for

which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments,

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value. Their carrying

amounts are an approximate of their fair values because they are short term in nature as such their fair values have
not been disclosed.
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair values of financiai instruments (Continued)

31 December 2024 TZ8 000
Financial assets

Cash and bank balances 1,567,018
Related party receivables 13,243

Total financial assets 1,580,261

Financial labilities

Other liabilities (*) 150,504
Due to refated parties 743,999
Total financial liabilities 894,503
31 December 2023 TZ8'000

Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 2,865,811
Total financial assets 2.865,811

Financial Habilities

Other liabilities (*) 617,185
Due to related parties 811,139
Total financial liabilities 1,428,324

*Tax liabilities of TZS 142 miilion (2023: TZS 134 million) and provisions amounting to TZS 24,250 (2023: Nil)
have been excluded from financial Habilities, as they do not meet the definition of financial insfruments under the

applicable accounting standards, These represent statutory obligations rather than contractual obligations and are
therefore not classified as financial instruments.

Property and equipment, leased premises and intangible assets

Critical estimates are made by the members of the Governing Council in determining the useful lives of property
and equipment, leased premises refurbishment and intangible assets as well as their residual values.

Taxes

The Organisation is subjected to several taxes and levies by the government and quasi-govemnment regulatory bodies.
As atule of thumb, the Organisation recognizes liabilities for the anticipated tax/levies payable with utmost care and
diligence. However, significant judgement is usually required in the interpretation and applicability of those taxes
fievies. Should it come to the attention of management, in one way or the other, that the initially recorded liability

was erroneous, such differences will impact on the income and tiabilities in the period in which such differences are
determined.

Going concern

Goverming Board Members have made an assessment of the ability of the Organisation to continue as going concemn
and have no reason to believe that the Organisation will not be a going concern at least for the next twelve months
from the date of approval of these financial statements.

Further information about the critical judgements is included in the respective notes.
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED GRANTS

a} Composition of deferred grants is as follows:

Deferred revenue grants
Donor fund invested in fixed asset

[Note18}

Deferred revenue grants movement
Balance as at 1 January

Grant received during the year [Note 6(b)]
Grant income utilised

Transferred from donor funds invested in
fixed assets

Grant receivable movement

Refund to donor

Foreign exchange translation reserve
Balance as at 31 December 2023

Grant income atilized

Deferred revenue utilised

Amortization donor funds invested in fixed
assets [Note 18]

Total grants utilised

b) Grant received during the year

Norwegian Government-EELAY
WE SOLVE NMF

IDRC (Research)

YIDAN

SCDP

ELA GOAL

ELA Their world New

J-PAL PPE Initiative Round 14
BRAC UK/ DIG

WFEP

Master Card Foundation

OTHER INCOME
Traiing

Net foreign currency gain
STAFF COSTS

Salaries
Bonus

2024
TZS'000

432,060

1,646,195
2,078,255

1,530,691
30,159,084
(30,604,792)
(583,801)
(64,773)
(4,349)

432,060

30,604,792

520,455

31,125,247

2024
TZ8'000

62,867
43,723
84,405
274,832
52,552
29,632
2,086,321
52,850
27,431,902

30,159,084

547,191

—— T2 D

547,191

9,282,352
345,321

— e

9,827,673

39

2023
TZS 000

1,530,690

1,582,850

3,113,540

1,926,439
16,158,857
{15,313,004)

(1,157,202)
(84,400)

1,530,690

15,313,004

243,656
15,556,660

2023
TZ8000

74,563
277,430

118,450
330,187
313,964
199,565
199,266
176,500
249,500
14,019,432

16,138,857

47,814
459,877

507,691

5,116,633

283,018

5,399,651
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

OCCUPANCY EXPENSES

Rent
Utilities

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Maintenance and general expenses
Audit fees

Program supplies

Research cost

Printing and stationery

Survey Cost

sSoftware Maintenance

HO logistics and management expenses
Construction Materials
Professional & Consultancy Fees
Honorarium

Other expenses

TAXATION

a) Tax expense

Corporation tax —charge for the year
Deferred tax (charge)eredit

h) Tax payable

Balance at 1 January
Charge for the vear

Tax paid

Foreign translation reserve
Balance at 31 December

2624 2023
TZS'000 TZS'000
398,659 356,721
233,467 87,786
632,126 444,507
68,619 152,322
81,750 98,296
11,216,540 3,705,559
292,342 140,019
368,660 349,842

. 123,740

188,092 14,137
31,522 57,638

- 95,798

14,818 51,349
814,139 488,874
539,218 242,180
13,616,200 5,519,754
233,939 34,546
(32,254) 65,190
201,685 99736
35,791 2,579
233,930 34,545
(123,428) (1,333)
146,302 35,791

The members of the Governing Council believe that the Organisation provides charitable ang welfare activities on a
non-profit basis hence any surplus generated is not subject to corporation tax upon obtaining charitable status.
However, the Organisation has not yet obtained the corporation tax exemption status from the Tanzania Revenue

Authority (“TRA™).

c) Tax reconciliation

QOperating surplus
Tax at standard rate (30%) of current tax

The tax rate has been affected by:
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses
Effective current tax charge

2024 2023
TZS(00 TZS' 0
414,480 143,890
124,344 43,167
77,341 36,569
201,685 99,736
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2024 2023
TZ5000 TZS'000
Cash at bank 1,567,018 2,865,811
OTHER ASSETS
Advances and prepayments 157,823 170,035
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture Motor
&fixtnres Equipment vehicle Building Total
TZS'000 TZS8'000 TZS'000 TZS'000 TZS'¢00
Cost
At 1 January 2024 594,323 1,122,199 352,040 155,840 2,224,402
Additions 59,413 192,066 353,602 - 605,081
Disposal {950) (5,787) - - {6,737)
Translation reserve - - - - -
At 31 December 2024 652,786 1,308,478 705,642 155,840 21,822,746
Accumulated
deprecation
At ¥ January 2024 47,463 268,866 172,324 12,573 501,226
Charge for the year 61,884 392,899 74,168 23,855 352,806
Disposal {(950) (5,470) - - (6,420)
Translation reserve - - - - -
At 31 December 2024 108,397 656,295 246,492 36,428 1,047,612
Net book value
At 31 December 2024 544,389 052,183 459,150 119,412 1,775,134
Cost
At | January 2023 182,902 420,101 352,039 110,432  1,065474
Additions 428240 725,274 - 69,848 1,223,362
Disposal {16,818) (23,176) - (24,440) (64,434)
Translation reserve - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 594.324 1,122,199 352,039 155,840 2,224,402
Accumulated
deprecation
At | January 2023 33,084 97,242 121,551 2,119 253,996
Charge for the year 23,970 190,784 50,773 - 13,916 279,443
Disposal (9,591) (19,160) - (3,462} (32,213)
Translation reserve - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 47,463 268,866 172,324 12,573 501,226
Net book value
At 31 Pecember 2023 346,861 853,333 179,716 143,267 1,723,176

As at 31 December 2024, the Organization holds fully depreciated property, plant, and equipment that are still

actively used in the operations. The total cost of these assets is TZS 198 miltion, with a notional depreciation of
TZS 40 mitlion.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2624 (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

The movement in the deferred tax liability during the year is as follows:

2024
TZ5000
At 1 Janunary 48,012
Charge for the year (32,254)
Foreign exchange translation -
At 31 December 15,758
Deferred tax lability arises from temporary-
differences on the feHowing items:
Capital aliowances 16,162
Provision (404}
Total deferred tax liability 15,758

2023
TZS000

(17,178}
65,150

48,012

48,012

48,012

The members of the Governing Council believe that the Organisation provides charitable and welfare activities on a
non-profit basis hence any surplus generated is not subject to corperation tax upon obtaining charitable status.

However, the Organisation has not yet obtained the corporation tax exemption status from the Tanzania Revenue

Authority (TRA).

OTHER LIABILITIES
2024
TZ5'000
Other payables (*) 249,334
Audit and advisory fees accrual 43,170
Staff medical insurance provision 24,250
316,754

2023
TZS'000

702,390
48,795

751,185

(*} Included in other payables are provisions for assessed tax payable amounting to TZS 142 million (USD 57,943)

as at 2024 (2023: TZS 134 million; USD 53,365).

RELATED PARTIES

2024

Relationship TZS'000

{a) Balances due to related

parties
Stichting BRAC International- Sister
HO Logistics company 678,600 642,365
Sister
BRACIT Services company 63,035 32,521
Sister
BRAC Bangladesh company 2,364 76,260
‘RAC Stichting BRAC Sister
International Kenya company . (7437
Payable to Stichting BRAC Sister
International Rwanda company - 67,426 6:810
743,999 303,426 811,139 322,520

2023
TZS000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES {(CONTINUED)

(b} Balances from related

parties

Stichting BRAC International
{(Rwanda)

Stichting BRAC Internaticnal
{Kenya)

BRAC UK

BRAC Uganda

BRAC Liberia

(¢} Transactions with refated
parties

BRAC IT zervices

Brac Bangladesh

BRAC Uganda

Stichting BRAC International
BRAC Enterprises Tanzania
Limited

BRAC Liberia

BRAC Sierra Leone

BRAC Tanzania Finance Limited
BRAC Uganda

Stichting BRAC International
{Kenya)

Stichting BRAC International
{(Rwanda)

Head office logistics and
management fees

2024 2023
Relationship TLS 000 TZS'000
Sister company 2,067 -
Sister company 4,727 -
Affiliate 1,518 -
Sister company 2,122 -
Sister company 2,208
13,241 -
14,137
Sister company 140,516 -
Sister company 3,619 -
Parent 1,793,221 -
Sister company 15,027 -
Sister company 2,565 -
Sister company 20,215 -
Sister company 16,525,178 -
Sister company 29,896 -
Sister company 430,060 -
Sister company 0,874 -
Sister company 5
- 31,638 &
18,967,875 7,250,252 71,775 29,520

{#) Compensation of key management personael

Key management personnel are described as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Organisation, directly or indirectly, including any director of the Organisation

as well as senior management team.

The following table summarises remuneration paid to the key management personnel

Short term payment

2024
TZI' 0

875,991
875,997

2023
TZ8000

841,611
841,611

No remuneration was paid to governing council member and director who are not part of the key management team

during the year.
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BRAC MAENDELEO TANZANIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDLD 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

DONOR FUND INVESTED IN FIXED ASSETS

2024 2023

TSZ'600 TSZ 000

Opening balance 1,582 R49 669,304
Transfer from Donor fund received in advance 583,801 1,157,202
Depreciation charged during the year (520,455) (243,656)
Translation reserve - et
1,646,195 1,582,850

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Members of the governing council and management have assessed the contingent liabilities and there are no
contingent liabilities as at the reporting date that need to be provided for or disclosed in the financial statements as
at 31 December 2024,

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At the time of signing these accounts members of the Governing Council are not aware of any significant post
balance sheet events.

44



Q'ITLIS

(06-952'66)
00°8S0°1S1

00°9%C' 10¢

0009887
{D0°ECL®88)

00'981°15Z

(D 15°97)
00 Er9'ta

00£56'251

00'8Z1'98¢

00 FOF Ty

{00 sst'ni}

00'658°Z6t

000, SZ.L
TY1OL HAS

(00 grd)

(00°8p4)

00'g68TIE

00’9587

00 L00 vF
0099¢°T]
OUELT T
00 110'6o

0000l

00 5P EIE

(00 108}

00'9PsTIE

080, SZL

(dao9)
1foLd ywamdopaagy

o)) 1P IELIS

{00°0%)

(ong0g)

00G0E

00, 871,
NEAA NAWOAM VTH

{orsiie)

0g6L1'D)

00°6L1°1
on6Lt’y

800, SZL

240
AL VI3

GOESH'S]

00t BRI

(HUFATA: 741

004967

00'108'9¢
00'60L Nt
DO'EES

0O vir8'9T
00'863°8F

00'SOT'LYE

o0Ov9eT

00°695°¢EY

600, SZ.1,

AW BON
A5 I

(oo FEg's11)

(0o v18°811)

0056’8
008718

00°9T8

(60098°601)

{ooro9z'sn1)

000, SZ1L
AVI3IT

ooy

{0079}

00'Te

HUre

000, 8ZJ,
ydaeasay

00'069°¢1

000691

DO ECTVE

{00'29)

008997

05°0HE
007208

00'590°81

o0 IE6?]

0OETS LY
00 EIR LY

D00, SZ.L

Burases )

(ooe)

00D
00°05€'98

00'1vZ'Z1
0OS1L'0T
M ULE1T
00'EZ

00'8rE9s

QU 8reoL

0. 871
HAANED

00'786'6€1

(00952 66}
000ZL 65T

(00" L96°0T)

HU'5S0p1
{00°$66'009)

GO'69L'0F]

{00'920°1¢}
0oL YE
000LS' LY
00648 LLT

0oLy}
QOoLee'n)

064, SZ.1
dqas

HVAA AHE H0d SYILA08 LIN

HONEXE]
snydang Sugesado

asundxy Supeaxdoy

ooierdadag

astadx g

JusmoFeuwryy puw sons130 OH
sas5uadxD

AAEASIVNUPE 77 [RINST S
sasuadxa Aotrednoagy

sieunitiag 1 sdousyiom “Julamr g
uonguodsies | puz Jurjjoare]
SIJIUD ISLEO PUR $1502 WIS

TERLIANTIXT

FW0OONI TVIOL

DI I
HORNQLIUOY VY
SWODH IURIC)
AWOINE

£I0T 12qUIdN 1T papus Jeak ayy 403

aauemI03Iad FEINELY o Juawaeg -] Xipusddy

NOLLVINHOANI TVINANDAS ~ SADIANTIAY

VINVZNVL OFTIGNIVIN OVAY



YEIvE

(9L °66)
068'¢r] -

0902651

LT
BE9'LS

FLELOY'S
&0S6ER

1L8'30F°T
SET'R9R
169'66¢€°C

0SEP90°91
069'L0§
085°955°¢1

000, 874
TVILOL ANYHD

(82F°L)

(891°2)
FI1'6197€1

T85°05T
[6E9F9

8TG'FITS
0% 199

STLIET
78T60L°1

LZSEI0'S

OEATE9ST
SPIBPS
[08'C90°61

000, SZL.
"IVLOL 8018

[
BPREC

(1}:] 4

I6T'
L5

6ELY1
£85°¢

DSBET

iy R

600, SZL
A

1
L31°88C]

YEbRET
98C'ERS

O0'RESt
OvL'LT

TTTCE6'E
TEFTIS']
THOELEY

88188t Ll

WT0s¢

986'L €621
080, §Z1.

WLV
fTHVIHLLSVIN

Z

£6£°%61

005t
ou9°LI

fT0'E
9E6']
£65°81
FTI'g
SH1LHI

CHE'R61

§6£°861

000, SZ1
HUMLTA
HITHL MO
ST

(ss1°p}

{s¢1'D)
156°20¢

AN |
v 12

SETFEL]
L6L°T
0L9'St
651'LT
6T
964°90F

96L'50¢

000, SZ1
&
DNIJdALE

HO¥'T0oE

T HY |
DL
[dAg 1T
088°601
A R

6LER

¥OF'TOE

poy' Tt

000, SZ.).
TV03
VTR BI04,

(691} <1

{6v9°1) <1}

6¥9°1 FOT69L

6v9°1 HZ's

- PO9'DET

- LA

- 0bL6%

- GLSFOT

- PEEEE

- SLE'694

- 967'C

- £36°99,
800, SZL 080, SZ1
FHSNAYAULL  1DAr0dd Bid
YIONvYd

(D

iy
685%9¢1

yT
0LL'OT

PP
000t

LbT'3E

885°9¢]

885951

008, SZL
TV

{gee'y)

(£5E'p)

66L°0LE

0TlE
TELBLI
80y
FI'L
L09°ZE
£50° 1Tl
9p599E
(e5€)
B66LDLE
660, SZL
L12Ar0Ud

FEr4d
N¥HA

YVAA FHE HOA
SYI4UNS LAN

DOREXEE
smdang funeradp

asuadxsy Funesadn

uorRidact
asuadxg JuawsSreaeiy
pue sous1807 OH
sasuadys
SATRISHIIPE

3 (esousd 10
sasuadxs Asmednaon
SIRLIIAG %
sdoysyrom Semer |
tiepodsuR ]

pue Supans}
syyauag

JUR[O PUB FIS00 JJRIG
TANLIONZJIXA

FWOINE TVLOL
DEOIUL I3
ToNRUINO)) JVHY
SN JuREC

AWOINI

£T07 RqUIIIQ [ PAPWS 1B Oy S0 g

ADHTULIOLIA JEruRW Jo JuamlEls -] iipuaddy

VINVZNVY.L OZTIANIVIN IVHE



£o1v9T

(#89°' 162}
6¥R'CoF

(168°217)

8LT'ET
{(818'+€6)

1844
Lig

675'E9

9FT'LL
9Py R8T

B56°ZST

ESEG6

fO9°ESI

000, 821
TYLOL 8i18

(og'oL)

(1ag0t)

206'€91

339

60T'8T
£9¢°E

§56°1%

76861
tig'6L

SOUEST

§09°¢51

0. SZL

(daos)
1aloay aerutlopaxg

agFoD SappokIEws

000, SZL
NiM NTIWOM VT

006, SZI

440
ALL ¥1H

LTSV A S

AN Hoy
NG IAL

000, SZ.L
AYTAd

m

080, SZE
YIAEISIY

800, SZL
guimiy

600, SZE
FIANTD 4085

99 ¥LE

{+29°102)
0s19Lt

(619463

SPLTT
(R18°vE6)

pETT
FiE1]

1LE°1E

pH LS
SE9'80T

£CE'66
£5E°66

000, SZL

AVIA FHE Y0 SIS LAN

uonENe],
snjdang Sunerad

ssuadxyg Sunerady

uoneizerdaq

asuadng

WauRFeuey pie $ors130T o1l
sasuadua

SMIENSIUIIPE 7 [BISUSE i35
sasuadxa Aowednsap

siewwag 7 sdoysijop Bumyely
vonepodsusi ] pre Bmijoar) |
SILuSg JANO PUE SI56D PG

TUNLIGNTAXNT

TWOOINI TYIOL

SEONU] ISR
BORRALNIOD VUG
SN WIVID)

BWNOINI

PTOT 12U [§ POPa Avak ay) 10
sduriRIofIad [RIDURLLY JO JuIRUSIEIS -] XIpuaddy

VINVZNYL OFTHANIAVIA DVHE



GR0'EFT

(#39°107)

CLLPIY

SER'OCTTE

[48¥433
ET5°EE

SI6'9L5°Ed

0s0'6ED
QISRIDE
cPaIg'E

TLYLL8'S

F6E149°1E

TEops

rTETIIE

000, SZL
TVAOL GNYHD

(90°18)

(9L0'18)
GILBOF1E

PEZES
GEE096
POETICE]

£LI'bT9
186'FE6°T
B6ECES E

9TT6ES6
ory'8IE'ic
66697

P9 1L6°08

006, SZ.L
TVLOL ans

(569)

{569
9L8'ELE

62T€
263

62E'ST

LigTT
fse'is
TLE'ey

BLT'ERE

Ig1eLe

I81°ELE

000, SZ.E
A

(ees's)

(£e8°s)

SLS'TTTHT

96L°905
S6T°E06

E60°CE6 T

815°89¢
1S0°019'T
LS8PLI'E

F96'C6F'8

THLYIZRT

SE6'0LE

LOR'SYELT

080, 7L
Wiy
THYIHZLSVYIN

(15L'%)

{154y}

9Ll

[se'
LPTLY

(1] Eard |

£P8C
LAty
6L6'C]

E96°6TE

£88'80¢

£88'80T

004, SZL.
HHALNA
YIFHL HOH
STIMNS

00, SZL
dit
ONEILS

(6T

(Lee)

VEV'LOE

8z8
26807

424N

FLTAY
Ly nel
YLRLT

958°L11

LET'LBE

LETURE

460, SZL
TVY0D
VIF/MIM 000

{00865}

{005°65)

BTEPREE

0€9°¢1

01°C6Z°1

YoE'L

988101
A KA YA
TS

RITPPTT

£58°5L

SLE'R9T°T

008, SZI 000, SZ1L
THSNAYML,

YIOWVd

L9%'L

¥T6'9

£¥6

L98°L

11T

959°L

050, 521
10Ar0Ud DIE  TVAF

W0, SZL
Loaroud
AZIAI
NV(GIA

HVIA JHL HOS
SATANS LAN

HOGEXEL

saplang Funerady)

asuadxy Junetadey

uonzasidagy

ssusthey pexuoSemely
pire 53nst807 O
sasuadya
IANRLOSIHHUPE

B RUAE 1NN}
sasuadxa Aourdniag

smuwRg 3
sdoyspron, *Suurel |
uonewodsiel |

PuE SUIf|SAR ]
slyagaq

12110 puR §1503 Jjeis
AUNLIONEIXT

HWOONI TYLOL

Jodey pellitg]

LONnQIIN0S VT
AUODT] TUBLDY

AN

FTOT 12qIda( [§ popua Jeak 3] 40

newrapsad [epueLY fo JuswNeis -1 xipuaddy

VINVZNVL OFTHANIVIN IviE



62129

621°¢s

8E6'C21

69%°11
{+1epe)
DI E0T
(us'01}
189°LE
SLESH
808851

LGSR

LETOI

$0L'ZOT

TVI0L
ans

(r31)

(vgi}

r9¢°821

£0°L

65081
580°¢

9RELT
BEL'9T
Iz

OBERTI

6TE-

604°8¢1

($aos)
3¥osg
nawdojaaagg
EEY1 [
1apjoy||Ews

(£21)

{ez1)

€Tt

£ci

N1
NIWNOM
¥ia

(s8h)

(s81)

Sy

&8F

440
AL ¥IA

685" -

685°L -

¥56'T8 -

0zl

9E1°5]
9[8'F
0£9

1#0°F 1
11102

£RL09 0

Bl

oTsoc

JW-UON

BAIDG AL TOLIA

(99%'8%) -

(998°84) -

£89°c -

e’

ove

£8151- 0

CRISCt

AVIad HSVM

50

(o)

of

9z

Yaseasay

1£9%

{e9's

YEOPE
(37}
158
4
1£€
0SVL
LTES
£9961

M |

Summera)

SL1'EZ

+Lo's
oes's

9806
€3¢

SLIET

SLIET

HAANTD

£65°86

£65°96

{901°66)

08L°¢
(8L1°L¥T)
¥9E05
(986'02)
£41°01
185°61
RST°EL

£1e-

£15-

448

VAR THL ¥OF SIVTIHNS LIN

uogeRe ],
snidang Sunesado

aamgppusdng Appuopy
ssuadxy Smpeixiey

uotedag

asundxg yuatsaBetepy pie sous1SoT O
sastadne aanenSsiHULpe § EIOUSTE 100
sasuadxa Aouednaogy

SIRUHUSS pure sdogsyiom. “Samlzsy
uonepodsusn pue Suifaaes )
uopesuxdm pue Josoduepsy
AAALIGNAIXT

TWOONT TYILOL

20OU] LY
UOTNIIEG) VY
uick JBEIL)
AWODINI

£707 190222 [ £ POPUI 1BIA 1)) 105
(@sn)rwedn assuaypadwad 19430 pue ssoj 10 1304d Jo Juswwyels -1 xipuaddy

VINVZNYL OZTIANTVIN DVHE



T8I

wzo' i)
TRI'6E

QI8LrED
LT6'P1
SOLET
[A2%] JArd
1947081
LTL066
VEEROL
YRLOTTT

266'009'G

P08°80T

981B6E"D

TVLOL

(Lre't)

(Lre'z)

ZLRETY'Y

SC0°E0T
648597
TETSPIT
ETL'16]
HOECH
666°T0L
QLE'I90T

§T6'0TY'9

|2 2 B4

T8¥'C6I'9

TY.LOL 815

6086

020t
(453
L
790'9
£L8']

608°6

608°6

SSHLYS'S

630°86
£LPETT
LTH998°1
es'sLl
RLTSHS
RIYIZY
1L99EL

P9LYS'S

68T9TT

ZL1IZE'S

iy
MAVOHALSYI

S65'18

8L
LST'L
€1
96L
LP9'L
Ihee
61509

965°18

06518

FULNS
HITHL
w0A
STIRIS

{sLy)

(sc¥)

£59°9T1

Siy
£08°8
YRS
6EL
12901
rLITI
LEG'SE

081921

081°921

i
ONIdAJAAS

{1

(1

FLETL

¥L0's
6TSES
oy
al'cr
SIS
vLE P

£LEVTL

£LEPTY

TVOD
VELAIM IR0 AL

(8.9 ()]
(8£9) (9}

819 L6g's1e
3L9 6E1°T

- hR'YS
- yv'e

- 606'9E
- 8LL 1P
. POELEL
- 16£°01€
- rr6

- LYFEIE
THSAAVMAL  1DIr0Ud
VPOWYd ord

20t v9

(31,1
6Ty
16Tk

333

[£L's1

vy

Z0¥'+9

1vd-f

(1641}

(16L71)

rosTel

£ERZI
95R'1L
6L9°1
866°T
Hret
LBLGH

EIL05E

{06L' 1)

£05°Z51

LOErods
FZNd

NY@A

AVAA FHL HOJ SOTdHOS LAN

uonExeE ],
snpdang Junetady

amipuadxa Apuoly
osuadxy Sunetad

vonroadag

asuadyg woumieurpy pue sonstfo | O
sasuainy INTLHSIUAUDE P [RINGT 50
sosuadxa fomednaagy

SIEUHADS DU SHOUSY10M “Tuure) |
uanevodsiey pue Suljjoasif,
uonesuadisos pue amoduepy
TANLIKINAAXA

AWOONI TVLOL

FMON] JAHO
UOINWERURy VA H
MO T
AWOON

£TOT 1WA FE popud 123k 33 105
(GS11) amodw aarsuapardwnd 13150 pue ssof 10 pjoad Jo jusuwsyes -§ xipuaddy

VINVZNV.L OZTHANIVIA DV



990'8L1

990°8L [

(seei18)

368°8
(Fze'ien)
66T'LE
989°c
AT
LT5'6T
£CTO11

169%6

LLELE

yLLBS

TVILOL
qans

(8e6'c)

(8ce’c)

698

¥oz

0
Z8LDI
981
LTZH
13572
LocoL

T pILes

bil'gs

{d@DR)
1aorg
Tuznsdoypaag
o)
Japlayjjemyg

NI
NIWOM
via

LElE
MLIVTa

A-UON
QA|OG 24N

1044

AVTHR

HSVA

- - - +00 281

- - - P00 Z81

- - - {ezopr1)

- - - 698

- . - (bTe'L5E)
- - - Lisog

- - - tEE'Y

- - “ W01

- - - 96’17

- - - ShL6L

- - - L16'L€

- - - LLG'LE

Yramasay  Bemea] WAQNED  4ds

BYIA JHL HOA S ESANS LN

uoHeNe ],
snydang Bepurdg

aamrpuadxo A|quop
asuading Buneradp

volzeiaardacy

asuadxy wowaTevepy pue sonsiZe] OH
sasuadxa DANBNSIUNGpE 7 [BI1aUas Y0

sasuadxs Aoundnanoy

sseiznuds pue sdoysspom “Suel |,
vonewadsues; pue Suljjane |
uoresuxites puE tamoduey
AHALIONZIXH

JWOONE TYIOL

O] IYIO
ORRGIILOD) DV
uEOUﬂ._ .—Edhmu
AWOONI

FTOT DY [€ Ppapud 1834 3} 10
{dS1) swoom aaisuagarduwiod 13Y)0 pue ssof 1o 3yo1d jo Judwoe)§ -1 xipusddy

VINVZNV.L O TAONIVIN DVYE



The'8sl

THS'$S1

895 LA TT
61'11T
&H0'T1

6972615
L9 IPT

[6L°EST'T
RZIDLET
o18°95L't

G901zl

8£8°807

TLTLEE' T

TVIOL

(resel)

{res'ei}

0

EP6 8T0CI
a

FeTTOT
AN
0L6'F60°S
LES'SET
LOS6TIT
109°08€'1
L92'py's

611 600°CH
]

198°0L1

H
BECBER'TY

T1¥10L 808

{997)

(992

0162kl

vET'l
LIES
7896
0£5’s
629'61

00gpT
810°0L

FEYZRE

TR

BIA

677’0

(6TT'D)

6SLL8L01
LILE6T
SLT'ShE

LA A
QIEL1T

GZ1'600°
ESTEITH
T

0£¢'s8L%01

98L T 1

PPLEPO0L

Wiy
TEYOUITLSVIN

(Lrs'e}

(L12°F)

19918
g%’
£65'9
PbLY
69t
610°CE
EFES
LL9'6Y

TER'5L

¥rE6L

JULLOA
UIFHL
¥0d
STINS

dn
ONIddALS

etl-

£11-

LIV ORI
LIg
BBG°L
£03'02
9£8'c
8460
$$9'0
0P

FELOPI

PELOVE

VOO
VIIAIA WAWO AL

- {660°<)

- {6e0's1)

- 651°cL8

. ]

- v S6r
- T6L'T

- S¥6'8¢
- I6E'96

- ERL'PET

- 090°858
- +66°8T

- 990°6¢8

THSOAVAMIL LIErOUd
YIOWVS mda

Lon'e

LT

09t

LOO°E

96T

AVdA-F

L3Aroud
3ZIUd

N¥aQiA

HYIA HHAL YO 5014808 LAN

UONEXR [,
sajding Bunerdp

ammpuadxs Ajyiuop
asuadxs Suneiadoy

uoselyday
osuadxy wmnaerely pue 52051807 O
sasuadxa sanensILRAPE 3P [i0uaE IO

saguadxa Lovednoagy

supuitieas pre sdoysyrom “Fursiery
oolwpodsuen pue Surjioaei]
uonesusduios pue fanodueiy
MUNLIGNZIXT

JROONI TV10L

JwesH] 2P0
HOURREHUOD) Y HE
aWwoony Juear
HWOONH

PTOT 1aqmada(] [ popud 1234 37) 104
(asn) suoomy aarsuayasdurod 1210 pue ssof 2o jnoad Jo Juswanenrg - xipusddy

VINVZNV.L OFIEANTVIN DvHd



LEY'EOS

{SpLLr)

{spL'L1)

781128

{Zs9'0i1)

£L0°10L
[6L's€
0L6'P61

SEH'E08
I8LElL

678651
(Zin'sy)

¥96'179

r$%'68

oo, 871
IHAL 988

508'r6

(Lpr)

(cvt)

£57°56

05S°EL
cIgE
888°L1

508°F6
£0T'68

on9

£09'38

(ALY

060, 571,
123foad

yurdopraap
503 13P[0Y
LR

res'

€TS'FL

£TSYL

(626°6¢)

000, SZL
TIHS
JA08 VI
J(ydmosm}
D¥al

LI A S
s 2
JuANsIOPY

v

{FI0'61)

(w1061}

F10°61

o0z0T
(o811}

000, SZ.L
¥ 13
PHOM
1Yy

o5

(6+9vT}

(6VFFT)

666'vZ

T6E'18

{goton)

000, SZ1
NIM
NINOA
hi i

60

ISy

(151

£8v° I+

(0D

680, SZ.1
ddam

s

1SR'68E

158'681

(sor'¥g1)

ESETLT
(8r0°19t)
0685

Lr's
96¢

Q6L

400, SZ1
AN HON
HATOS
P
VAINVd

TT0'16

(12 11

0vE'vi

739°9L

e89'9L

[Z0'16
£95°pL

£95'pL

B5F'91

000, SZ1
AVIZA -

AVHON

651

(esL'1€)

(ESL1ED)

T IET

TIE' £

65i

008, SZL
Y2ieasay

ik} 2

Eor'9 (¥

(oroip

(81+'¥58)

S10'BEL

000, SZ..
qe

£rid - y§N
ovug

(O}

{r0a's1)

(¥o0°s1)

$00°61

rEL'6l

{0£e)

009, 5ZL
Supurea],

Jig

- 680°L9S

- {9g#'025)

- (9£v9LE)

- STE'EP6

{reo' ) 10222

PEY'1 FIOFEL
- 164768
- FAL TR ]

- 6095
- $LO08

- 688°€6
- (z10'88}

- 86435k

- FIF'Te

600, 871, 050, SZL
UGIIELILGIEEI | 1woxd

1Ipuan lenue]y
f¥S Vg - dG%

pany jende])
puE salIgalf (jo}

punyg [=pdery (gie)

smyding pourelay
puny jede)

sangiget [eaf,

32558 pax(y

U JUIUISIAUL SPUTL IDUO]
DURAPE

Ul PRAIDIAT SpUn] JOROCT
sonued pareras 01 96
apqeded xe) apiodiosy
sajqehed 1NG

SONIqE]

GNNA TY.LISY)
OGNV SHLLETIHVIT

SJOSSH 1RO 7

SAIRAIZOTY ARG PR
$SIQRAEOFY YO
SIISEY XEB |, PALIJag

yueg pUT 458D
SISV 1Ny

ustikdmba prre Apadorg
§)ISSY JUBLIRY-UON

SLIUSSY

CZOC J2WING [C 1E §B HOIJSOJ [eRURNL] JO Juawa)elS-I] Xipuaddy

VINVZNY.L O TIANTVIN DVHE



SITTIL'Y

ESOEOLY

PLULGIE

£06'81L
16L'6E
98154

MO TIL'Y
PESLBE'T

LEQOL
{z10'8r)
118°¢98°T

9LyeeLt

040, §21
"ol

089°L06'€

908'sT

908°cT
PiB'EBEE
6150%
190°e0E'E
{zzo'se)

gIL'9s8

LLELOG'E
SEOPLTT
BOT0%

LYSEPT'T
TTS'CEY]

0o, 8Z1
e}, ang

ST0'0FT

i1 U0)i] rd

059°5ZZ
380°01

8Ly

HOOrT
068°6TT

peR'sTT

STEYT

000 SZL
'?A

9E9'61L°T

Lo1°9¢
LOL9E
6" €897

9510207
8386'611

SO

L59'6IL'T
G0LES 1T

S05p1
FOT'6EI1°]

’F6'CCCT(

BbOg, SZ.0
iy
MUY IHILSYI

LLGG

(s}
8¢
$17°03

IA% g4
{Ts9it}

000, SZ1L
FUNLOA
HiAHL
HOuH
STINS

(5£6°2)

(691°8)

{691°€)

iz

eS|

(819°11)

{($16°T)
0

)

(5e6°2)

200, SZL
40N

ONIdDEIS

POL'T

L98°8T
{365'LT}
[

$IL'T
237

88¢

T4

008, SZL
oD vIa
FULMEIWO A4

0981

{6y9'1)
{6t9°'7)

600't

6E6'99

(oe6'en

000 §21.
AYSHARMILY,

slome g
JUEMIIEO AN,

- LBYFEG

- 194

- (51}

- Z0L'PES
. 61508

OPLELL
155701
- 93%8'9

- LBI'PEG
- R91HES
- SHST

- ECL7808

- 61508

860, 5Z.1 009, SZ1.
BULI) DIG M0
s avig
Liigies; i)

150°z

(£856)
(€857
¥E91l

18859

{¥Trs)

000, SZ1L
P1 punoy
FANBIIL]
Bd4d TVIF

211

£se'y
£5E°'y
GrT'y)

LIS
(811'9p)

<5

00d. 821
HZIHI
NYQal1X

{1£2°19)
1£L°19

009, SZL
ASNOLSTH
$1 GRAOD
33 /09471
VS Ovag

pan} jeude)
PUR SILHYEH EICL

pany pEpde) mog,

snjiing paueiay
punj {mde)

SHUNGETY WO L

SI3SSE PAXIJ

U1 JUIUNSIAUT SPEN] JOUO(]
WUBAPE

Ul PAAIIRDS SPUNT JOUCC]
saiured paje)ar oy ongg
2qqeded xp slesodioy
SIYRAR IO

SAYHIGRE]

GNINA TVLIAVD
GNY SHILTHEVI]

$3I55E §BIO I

SapqBALEsYy APRg POERY
S3|GRAIZITY I

SIISSY X8 ] PRLIINMT
Aueg pue ysey

SI95SY JLaLInTy

wswdinbs pue Auadesg
SJASSY JUIRIN BN

SLIASSY

£70Z QW] FE 76 ST UONISO ] [BI2URBULY JO 1uW)Eig~F xipuaddy

VINVZNV.L OTTIGNIVIN DVHg



GSP'6IE

(950°L)

(950°L)
£15'92E

{6T2'79)

066°967
1ETH1
E7C°LL

9Sh'6IE
60R'CRT
L6875
{060°61)
0L LYT

L¥9'SE

TY.LOL
ans

S6v'LE

(3L1)
(8L1)

ELE'LE
6T

st

TI'L

H60°LE
6915 E

6tT

0ELsE

LIt

(dqDs) woleag
juaisdogaaagy
E= % ]
SapogEg

IEL'Lt

1£9°6Z
1£9'6€

(o0G' D)

{og 11}

1£LL1
€L

[E£L°LY

Ogan
yRleig
s
¥O$ V11

(313
(81)

81
st

(o€}

spid
A0S 0pY
Ll ¢

{og<'s)
(095°1)

095*L
TED'S

(eLvd

PHOM
L
¥13a

6fl

{iog'6)
(108"}

PGS
PEFOT

{(p61'01)

6L
6Ll

6Ll

NIAA
NIWOM
YTl

(1)

(s05'01)
(e05°91)

S64°0F
819z

LESEL

zn

{z1)

440
JLL¥Y1E

WL

88F°CL

88F'CL

(zze'el)
768201

(gss'eg)

THET

SO
FAN

L5l

800'¢

2AJOZ N

69t

20L's

ToL's

o608
{zeT'sn)

LRy

I61°9¢
Y96

AVIER

{851'26)
{351'26)

T

PAY MG

£0

£9

eIsay

£95°69]
£9%7591

{L95's91)
(b1 00T}

LL8PE

e Aeid

(0

(£55°L)

{es¢)

LESL

839°L

(1cn)

(0}

0

Bunatea f

{0s9)

059

HIANTD

£8FSTT

{919°6+1)
{(oL9'6v1)

6S1°5LE
L78°8

106'€8Z
iET'¥1
007’89

£8K'STT
499007

I£E'LE
{n60°61)
SZ°ZRI

LIS

448

GNGEA TYLIEVYD BNY
SHILIHEVIT IVLOL

pung jende) mog.
snpding poureiay

pting fe3e

S EYY JEI0L
20URADE

1 PFAIDIDI SPUNY 1BLD(]
sa1ued poaeas o) ang)
apqeded xey erodio)
sayeARd I9UI0
saIqer

ANNA TYLIAVD)
NV SHLLITHIVE]

SLISSYV IVLEOL

salquAERy Apred parelsy
SIIBAIINY 1LY

SIOSSY XB) pausya(]
Mg puR gse))

§J3SSY ALY

yurdinba pue Auadorg
S1055Y MISLINT)- 20}
SLASSY

{aSN) £TOT rquI2da( 1€ 18 §& UOPISOJ [EPUBHLE JO JUIWRE)S-T] XIpuaddy

VINVZNY.L OFTIANIVIN DVHE



COTEL8'T

0T’

S0%°¢

095'698'1
U
9FRCRT

1E2%1
179862

991CLR'T
900'881°1
609'L9
{06051}
LRYBELT

091°589

TYLOL

PIL'EEST

Feralili
9701

BFY'EPS1
ELYEEE'T
EViEE-

g

0ILESET
617106
x4l
o81'z6%

£1¢'649

AVEQGL
qns

23 271

PEY'GE
TEL68
110t

1Lt

PEF'EG
L18'68

L18'68

Lio'g

H3A

BLE180°

L8ESL

LEEP1

210'2901
£FT'E08

GOL LY

990°91¢

FLE1807)

LOLT9Y

1oL’

OFG 95t
L9F'R19

iy
JEYIYILSVYIN

896°E

(v6)

(6)

98
8ER'0S

(9Li'9)

£96'€

B96°F

FAML0A
UIFHL
Hos
TS

{991°'D

{osz'n)

09z

¥6
€1ty

(619

(991D
)

)

(991°1)

drit
ONIdEALS

660'T

&60'1
8Lr1T

{£19't)

L%

660"

£

Sil

¥86

V0D
VTMIMUBHEGY

ors

(959)

(959}

961y
919'97

{ozy's

IkS

[¥&

AHSNAVAUL
YIOWvYd

ix

- SKO'ILE

- - {9
- )]

- 189°1LE
WE OpL'LZE

I XARNE 4

- 8LLT

- SP9IILE

- 857 15E

- 6219

- 6TH SHE
- L800T

YNOQHEOD  LDE0Ud
ILLIA O1a
411

91

(o1ge)

{018°8)

L9y
56197

{04512}

518

Sg

TVd-T

(0

IEL°1

gL't

(1eL*1)
L9y

{eee’sn?

{1

LIOAFOMA
AZIAL
NYQIA

{(sps'yvD)
SPEYT

13370Hd
ASNOJSSTA
&1 TIAOD
ani

NI TVLIEYD
NV STLETHEVIT TV.IOL

pung fde] oL
syding paurE sy

puny zndesy
SIDHIGEIT K0,

DIUBAPE Ul PAAIIIAI SPUNJ IGUGE]
sarued pgia 01 o

spqeded v mmiodio)
sajqedr] D)

SIMEAQEE]
anny
TYLIdVD ANV STLLITIE VI

SIASEVIVLOL

sofeAleasy e paeioy
SAQRAIIIIY 12U

5I5SY NE ] panayacy
g PUe 4se)

SIASSY JUALM])
juatdindy pre fuxdoiy

51355 JALIFUON
SLASSY

{aSN) £T0Z 12quada( 1§ Ju S HONISO4 |BIdURTI Y JO JUWAEIS-T xipuaddy

a_;ZQNZﬂH OEJWQZH<2 ovid



CIR'EER
{6LE°86)

(6LE'86)

FOT'TE6

{evL'Le)

86L°501
YA

zor'osE
U]
TEH'60T

890'+9L

1Z1gel

056" ECE

166°19

00, SZL
1810} gAY

590'S
{svL'on)

{gvLon)

LIRST

(610°D)

9£9°L]

690's

(== =]

690°

060, S7.1
prafoad
jawmdopasp
10D P
H LA o0

690, 524
TIPS
JA0S ¥
Ayareasay)
2udqrn

(09, STL
sjn3
ISPV
¥z

608, SZ1L
v
-PHOM,
1y,

000, SZ1
Nim
NAKROM
v1d

400, SZ1,
dAM

600, SZ1
AN BCN
JATOS
M
YaiNvd

6TLZRI
GELpE

GECY!

D6E 891

FeR'SH

9£¢TT

£95'pL

6081

080. §7L
AVIEE -
UVHON

Hx

000, SZL
YIITIEIY

060, SZL
9e7

Amid - V80
ovag

- - LTO'D0Y
- - (GHALY]

(06" (01

- LG6'L9L

- - (EpL'2e)
- - PG 6S

85151
- - 128°T6€
- - 10€'9F1
- - 9161

- - LIN'999

- -~ 0
- - 1CEReI
- - 0
- - LBE6LE
- - 0
- - 0

- - 6ls'8s

06,821  000.SZL 000. SZ1

JainreLf,  OOUBRLIOSUEIL yaford

.y i R vuiong ] JOAFT)
VSN OVl ~dds

punj pde)
pRe SIUNIqe] JER0 1,
pung [ende)) juio],

soiding paney
puny (e

SapMqer ey

S19558 paNy

B JOALNSIAUL SPUNY JOUD(]
FOUBADE

UE PAAIIIAI SPREY JOUO]

fgjrqer xey, pauggdg

saruRd pate[od OF (]
siquied xvr setodiony

sajqedeg O
SNPNYLI]

AN IV LIV
NV SHLLI'HIVI')

§13SSE [FI0 ],

$2|qrAIR00Y A4 PAZISY
S3[QEAISIN] YO

§358Y NE Y PALINI(
MBE puE yse))

SIBSSY UM

wardimba pus Auades

195V JUITINY-BON]
SLEISSY

PZOT QU [€ € S UONIOJ (ERULTI] JO WINABIS-TT Xipudddy

VINVZNYL OdTZANAVIA OVie



LLDHYE'S

(1Lr6ED)

(rLrsen

BPLESH'E
961°099'(
CLLTEL

goLCl
960" 1£9

[0€79%E
THI'TIE

GZT'6GYE

LLDLSL

gI0°298'T

FELCLLT

000, SZL
HILA N

E86'TLO'T

(£5¢'9D)
(ESt'or)

PEF'669'T
6£6'€89°1

118728

#66°0FT

069101

S6T'TLYT

95687

0T0%%

LET'E6Y'I

800, SZL
iBI0L qns

SPE'gL

(569)

{569}

OrT'6L
££8'0T

(Fis'sis

991°[El

§5L°T

SPS'RL

(Le6'61)

60L'LL

LER°0T

66, SZ1
1A

BSO°LS9'E

¥LT0C
FLEOE

FRLITYY
$0699'1

{rso'oT)

{99°L0)

6¥1'86

LEE'LSYT
8102

Fars R rd

LBCTIOL

060, SZL
NIV
GUVIONILSVIN

SIS

(686°%)
{686°t)

PECOF

(9L1'32)
853

901

praa

080, SZL
HHMLLE
HIZHL
d4041
STINS

000, SZ1
dix
ONFJILS

UESS

(¢6D)

(t62)

L2778
(839}

(£90'79)
6EL'LY

6L2

P

6. SZL
OO v1a
ANMBITO AN

el

(8r5'1)

(8r9°1)

so0'c

8E6'99

{(06'e®)

09€°

008, ST
FYSNAEMIL],

elomey
LRI BEG AL

AIX

009, SZ1
BUOI0)
s ]
/ouar

0%'EZ6

(515%6¢)
(515°6€)

O11'e96
683'9¢

ELLYOL

$o0'12Z

it

109°eT6
S0C°1y

Lov'ses

68%°9¢

800, SZL
A SN
Jvid

£97°7

{£8s’s)
{£88'6)

£l

858°L8

(Ero'9L)

9T

6661

000, SZL
b1 punoy
sagegu]
Add
vdr

008, SZ.L
AZidd
N¥{IA

000, SZL
ASNOISIH
61 AlAOD
as’3/0DaA%
Y81 0Vag

pury rende)
U SHOINQEY (K101,

punyg [epde)) Je0],
snjding patredy
punj eudes
SR (210,

519558 PANIE

Ul TUIOISIALE SPUR] JOUOCE
2OUTADE

UL PIALIINL SPHO J0HO(]
AB[Iger] xe], pauyag
santed paEio] 03 ongE

slguied xe; eiodio))
sa1qedBq B0

SHIRGE]
AN TVLIIVYD
ONV SHLLIHEVE]

EJISSE [BI0 ]

$3qea1939y At pAIeEY
SI[GRAIIIDY LI

$)955Y Xe ] pariaag
NUBE pUB 4sB)

S)95SY DAY
warrdinba pue fuadoly

SJASS Y JUILIR-TiIN]

SLASSY

PTOT 19QIIINT [ € S LONIS0J [BRURUL Jo Juswaerg-1] xipuaddy

VINVZNVL OTTIANIVIN DVHI



L97°L0T

(696°5+)

{696'st)

9eCEIE

{gag's1)

Leb'eT

SE0'65
999'65

1Z4°¢8

£69°CLT
FAt ALY

#0¢°561

££6°5T

IVILOL
q4s

£90'T

{3y

£%:198 ]

i}

(pz8)

LT

Jas)
waloag
Juamdopraagy
o)
B g

(aan sp218
1aforg JORISHODY
HIERY ¥ix

o8 v

AX

- - - - - - - - - 80T'$9T GNNA TYLIVD aNY
STLLITIVITTVLIOL
. - - - - - - - - (98514} purnj [Ende g0,
- - - .. - . - - {98514} snyding paurerny
- - - - - - - . - - pury jende
- - - - - - - - - 984908 SN 0L
(gaEs) §19SSE Paxy
L JUILESIAUL SPUn] U]
- - - - - - - - - LYYy a0uCApE
i PIATII SPUNY JOUGE]
- .- - - - - - - - 616651 saiued pae|al 01 angy
- - - - - - - - - 995°65 apgeded x2y apetodio]y
- - - - - - . - - LP18L SajqeAtd Ui
. - - - . - - - SOWIpIGRT]
- - - - - - - - - annd TV.ILYD
aNY SHLIITIEVI]
- - - - - - - - - 9TV ILE SLASSY TVLOL
R - - - - - - “ - - saqqeAlsnyy AR paeloy
- - - - . - - - - [£FAraS SNQRAIROSY SO
- - - - - - - - - - S)a55Y B[ paarar]
. - - - - - - - . gos'sst g pue yse
- - - - - - - - - ATV JuILINY
. - - “ . - - - - GUR'ET Juaeadinba pue Auadory
FIASFY W0eLAD-UON
SLASSY
PlioM NIimt 440 05 34 AVTEAY gaaeasg qz| Leld Bonmell  MIONAD  dAS
g1, NIKWOM LV
v13 vid

(AS11) 20T 19915353( 1£ JE SE UORISOJ JEDUEN] JO JUIWIIEIS-[; xipuaddy

VINVZNV.L OFTEANTVI DVHI



LEP'SYEL

(LR0'9E)
(1.80°98)

ISP

gotTILY

rERT
PorERT

999°65
68971

0867351

[90°t9

0E0°E8S

688°C1L

LATEAN

695°680°1

{gr1'en)
(§11'01)

L89'66D'T

[9£'989

yol'LbE

682 P21

LY 1Y

L8T'6801

608"

TTE'LRE

956'58%

Wi0L
ans

££0°2E

{80
(r8D)

L1g'ee

L

6t ¥

(16t'0£)

yeV'Es

$Tl'l

£E0°TE

(s¢1'8)

Y[
v64'8

A

B6L'SLY

e
9pEel

WHHe
106699

(ezr'e)

{bs9°tL)

8TO0F

B6L'SLD

611'¢

65601

oL 199

Wiy
THVIUILSVYIV

I£1°7

(5£0°7)
(se0'D)

291°p

(19 )

Ll

33

11T

CE: LR RI |
HidHL
¥0A
STIMS

L {L
DINELIIALS

e
(azy

(zi)

£CHT

{ore)

{11€'52)

9T9'LL

26

08l

V0D
VBTN

JHSNAVMANLL
YIOWvVd

EAX

YNOHOO
HLIA
HAr'

TLY'9LE

{o11'91)
(911'91)

98L76E

PRSI

LoV L8ET

L51°06

08

T'oLe

P91

ERLPE
301

JOF0U4
o1

£26
(806°c)

(806'0)

1£8'p

I£8'SE

(oo0°tE)

14T

EoIf0ud
A7 4
NVUIA

LJArowd
ASNO4STY
&F GIAQD
asi

OINNE TY.LIVD
ANY STELFTIOVIT TV LOL

pun [epde] 0,
snjdang paurdy
punj fende?
SINFEET §E04

s}assm

PaXE UI JIENSIAW SPELL,] 10000
IUBAPE WY PIAIZAT SPURY JOR0]
sated paepar o) angg

alquied xey sjerodiony
sajqedRd JOp0)

sanifIqee]

QNN

VLIV ANV SELITEVIT
SILASSY TV.LOL

sajqealaomy Ayeq pate[oy

SDIBAISORY SHIID

SI2SSY KR POLAI
e pine yse))

1355 JHALNY
twskdinbs pur Auadorg

SIDSSY IWOLNUON
SI1.3SSY

{ASN) FIOZ 13qEA(L TE IE S¥ UOSO] [IdUsRY] JO JUowI6)S-T) xipudddy

VINVZNVL OTTIGNTVIN DVad



